

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

ScienceDirect

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/he



Review Article

A review of bioreactor configurations for hydrogen production by cyanobacteria and microalgae



Zahra Zarei ^a, Peyman Malekshahi ^a, Mohammad Hossein Morowvat ^{b,c}, Antoine P. Trzcinski ^{d,*}

^a Department of Chemical Engineering, University of Sistan & Baluchestan, Zahedan, Iran

^b Department of Pharmaceutical Biotechnology, School of Pharmacy, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, P.O. Box 71468-64685, Shiraz, Iran

^c Pharmaceutical Sciences Research Center, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, P.O. Box 71468-64685, Shiraz, Iran

^d School of Agriculture and Environmental Science, University of Southern Queensland, West Street, 4350, Queensland, Australia

HIGHLIGHTS

Review of biological production of hydrogen using microalgae and cyanobacteria.

- Source of C, N, P, micronutrients, light, temperature, gas, flow rate are discussed.
- Other strategies: S deprivation, anaerobic conditions, co-cultures, immobilization.
- Most common photobioreactors and novel systems with hydrogen yield.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 27 June 2023 Received in revised form 27 August 2023 Accepted 10 September 2023 Available online 28 September 2023

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT



ABSTRACT

The need for cleaner energy as a sustainable alternative instead of fossil fuels has led to a plethora of research on biological H_2 production by microalgae and cyanobacteria. These species have a great potential to produce hydrogen in photobioreactors acting as a closed system that provides suitable conditions for algal cultivation. This review provides an overview of the requirements for green algae and cyanobacteria growth and focuses on the conditions required for hydrogen production. Also, the common types of bioreactors used

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: antoine.trzcinski@usq.edu.au (A.P. Trzcinski).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.09.108

0360-3199/© 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd on behalf of Hydrogen Energy Publications LLC. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Keywords: Biohydrogen Cyanobacteria Growth conditions Microalgae Photobioreactor configurations for hydrogen production were critically assessed in terms of microbial growth and hydrogen production. Culturing these microorganisms within an electrochemical unit is a promising approach to increase biohydrogen production. The inclusion of nanoparticles is also an emerging technique to improve light scattering in photobioreactors.

© 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd on behalf of Hydrogen Energy Publications LLC. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1		Introduction 472
1.		
2.		Microbial strains for H ₂ production
	2.1	. Microalgae
	2.2	. Cyanobacteria
3.		Macro and micronutrients
	3.1	. Source of C
	3.2	. Nitrogen
	3.3	. Sulfur
	3.4	. Phosphorus
	3.5	. Microelements
4.		Light requirements
5.		Temperature requirements
6.		Effect of algal growth rate on H ₂ production
7.		Mixed cultures for H ₂ production
8.		Bioreactor design
9.		Tubular reactors
10.		Flat plate reactors
11.		Membrane photobioreactors
12.		Electrochemical sequential batch reactor (ESBR)
13.		Conclusions
D	ecla	ration of competing interest
	Ac	knowledgments
	Su	1991ementary data
	Re	eferences

1. Introduction

Globally, fossil fuels are the main source of energy but also the main contributor to global warming. Due to population growth, growing demand, and rising electricity costs, it becomes urgent to find alternative and more sustainable sources of energy. Hydrogen is a potential alternative with no CO_2 emissions associated with its combustion but has also a high energy of approximately 122 kJ g⁻¹ [1]. Moreover, H₂ can be used in a wide range of applications such as outer space exploration, electricity generation in power plants, and many industrial processes (oil refineries, methanol production, etc.). It can also be used in hybrid energy systems (power storage) and vehicles [2,3]. These days, hydrogen has gained attention as a transportation fuel which has led to the manufacturing of electric vehicles. These vehicles include a tank of hydrogen that flows into fuel cells and reacts with oxygen from the air to

produce electricity that powers an electric motor [3]. Among several methods to produce hydrogen like thermochemical, electrochemical, and biological processes, photobiological H_2 production by microalgae and cyanobacteria has received attention due to lower cost just by utilizing solar energy and CO₂ and converting them to biohydrogen [4] which was first reported by Gaffron in 1939 [5]. However, the amount of biological hydrogen production compared to other methods is very low due to hydrogenase and nitrogenase enzymes which are inhibited by oxygen.

To produce hydrogen using photosynthetic microorganisms, several photobioreactor (PBR) designs have been investigated: flat vs tubular panel, vertical vs horizontal bioreactors, and large-scale raceway pond design which have different geometric and hydrodynamic parameters that play an important role in light penetration, mixing regime and circulation required for optimum algal growth [1,6]. Hence, this review is focusing on the recent development of photobioreactor design and process configuration and critically assesses their performance for biohydrogen production.

2. Microbial strains for H₂ production

2.1. Microalgae

Green algae can produce hydrogen through direct and indirect biophotolysis. In direct biophotolysis, they split water into H_2 and O_2 using sunlight. Microalgae containing chlorophyll *a* (Chl a) like plants can capture sunlight and use Photosystem I (PS I) and Photosystem II (PS II) pathways to produce oxygen through photosynthesis [7]. In PS II, solar energy is first absorbed to split protons (H⁺), electrons (e⁻), and O_2 , and then electrons are transferred to PS I. In PS I, pigments absorb light energy which leads to an increase in the energy level of electrons to reduce ferredoxin oxidization; in the absence of O_2 , the hydrogenase enzyme uses electrons from reduced ferredoxin (Fd) to convert H⁺ to H_2 according to reactions 1 and 2 [7]:

$$\begin{array}{l} 2H_2O + h\nu \rightarrow O_2\uparrow + 4H^+ + Fd \mbox{ (red) } (4e^-) \rightarrow Fd \mbox{ (red) } (4e^-) + 4H^+ \\ \rightarrow Fd \mbox{ (ox) } + 2H_2 \end{array} \tag{1}$$

$$H_2O-PSII-PSI-ferredoxin-hydrogenase-H_2$$
 (2)

The [Fe–Fe] hydrogenase enzyme has an efficiency of 12-14% when converting solar energy to H_2 and is also capable of oxidizing water to produce hydrogen. However, in indirect biophotolysis, energy for hydrogen production is supplied by endogenous carbohydrates stored in intracellular granules usually in the form of starch. To convert that stored energy in H_2 evolution, carbohydrates are fermented during dark conditions, and then hydrogenase enzyme transfer energy in the form of protons to form H_2 [7].

H₂ production by photosynthetic microorganisms (green algae) not only is dependent on environmental factors but also depends on the strain type [8]. Microalgae species including Chlamydomonas reinhardtii, Tetraspora, Scenedesmus, and Chlorella sp. [9–11] have the capability to produce hydrogen. Table 1 lists some of the most recent studies on H₂ production using microalgae and it can be seen that H₂ production was studied in small reactors (less than 500 mL) and well-controlled conditions (synthetic medium, temperature, gas atmosphere, mixing, light), but performance across studies is hard to compare because researchers used different units to report hydrogen volumes and produced yields. According to Supplementary Table A1, C. reinhardtii is the most studied strain and is able to produce the highest H₂ yield of 8.8 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} after 49 h when grown in a 500 mL cylindrical bottle photobioreactor (PBR) using tris-acetate-phosphate (TAP) medium at a temperature of 28-30 °C and light intensity of 40 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$ [12] (Table 1). Chlorella species (C. vulgaris, C. salina, C. lewinii, C. sorokiniana, C. pyrenoidosa) have also demonstrated a good potential to produce hydrogen by the accumulation of a high amount of carbohydrates when they face nutrition deficiency [9,13] (Table 1). More recently, other strains such as Ulothrix and Closterium have been investigated for hydrogen production [14] (Table 1).

2.2. Cyanobacteria

The second group of microorganisms for hydrogen production are cyanobacteria which are divided into filamentous nitrogen-fixing and non-nitrogen-fixing blue-green algae which can both produce hydrogen through direct biophotolysis via nitrogenase or bidirectional hydrogenases enzymes as well as indirect biophotolysis [7,26].

The most common genera of filamentous nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria are Nostoc, Anabaena variabilis ATCC 29,413, Anabaena azollae, Synechocystis sp. PCC6803, Microcystis PCC 7820, Calothrix, and Oscillatoriaa [27–30] (Table 2). These can produce hydrogen under nitrogen limitation via their nitrogenase enzyme which is located in heterocysts cells [8]. These cells are able to separate oxygen and hydrogen production by providing an environment free of oxygen for their nitrogenase enzymes which are sensitive to oxygen [7]. The H₂ production mechanism of filamentous nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria is described by Eq. (3) as follows [31,32]:

$$N_2 + 8H^+ + 8e^- + 16ATP \rightarrow 2NH_3 + H_2 + 16ADP + 16P_i$$
 (3)

In aerobic conditions (with nitrogen), filamentous nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria consume ATP, fix N_2 and convert it to NH_3 and generate H_2 as a byproduct [7]. Yodsang et al. (2018) also reported that some filamentous nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria have the potential to produce hydrogen under an argon atmosphere as shown in Table 2 [33].

However, in non-heterocystous cyanobacteria, the bidirectional hydrogenase enzyme pathway is dominant when producing hydrogen under anaerobic conditions (without nitrogen) [34]. The commonly used non-nitrogen-fixing genera of cyanobacteria include *Gloebacter* PCC7421(a unicellular cyanobacterium), *Synechococcus*, and *Aphanocapsa montana* [7,35]. Eq. (4) describes the mechanism of H_2 production in non-nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria.

$$8H^+ + 8e^- + 16ATP \rightarrow 4H_2 + 16ADP + 16P_i$$
 (4)

For example, H₂ production from non-heterocystous cyanobacterium *Gloebacter* PCC7421 under an atmosphere of Ar, CO, and C₂H₂ and light intensity of 30 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ was 1.38 μ mol h⁻¹ g⁻¹ (Chl) [36] (Table 2). Also, the filamentous non-heterocystous cyanobacterium *Geitlerinema* sp. RMK-SH10 has recently shown a capability of H₂ production [37] (Table 2). However, these strains cannot rival the yield achieved by *Anabaena* sp.

To produce H_2 via indirect biophotolysis, cyanobacteria use the stored energy from endogenous carbohydrates (glycogen). A non-nitrogen-fixing cyanobacterium *Gloeocapsa alpicola* CALU743 is a good example which demonstrated high performance of H_2 production 20 mL $L^{-1}_{matrix} h^{-1}$ during indirect biophotolysis [38] (Table 2).

Several recent studies on the production of H_2 by cyanobacteria are listed in Table 2 and it can be seen that nitrogenfixing cyanobacteria such as *Anabaena* PCC 7120, which produced 1600 mL L⁻¹ hydrogen under N₂ atmosphere and darkness, are more promising to produce H₂ [39].

Table 1 – H₂ production rate by various microalgae.

Microalgae	Growth conditions	H ₂ production conditions	H ₂ production	Reference
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii wt 137c	tris-acetate-phosphate medium (TAP), pH 7.2, 25 $^\circ\text{C},$ 110 $\mu\text{E}\ m^{-2}\ \text{s}^{-1}$	sulfur-deprived medium (TAP-S), 25 °C, 110 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , under N ₂ bubbling, a torus-shaped photobioreactor	$2.5 \text{ mL } L^{-1} h^{-1}$	[15]
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii Dangeard C137+	tris-acetate-phosphate (TAP) medium, pH 6.9, 28 °C, 100 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ 500- mL flasks bottles	sulfur-free TAP medium (TAP-S), 28 $^\circ$ C, 100 μE m $^{-2}$ s $^{-1}$, 14 -14.5 mL vials	2.8–2.9 mL $L^{-1} h^{-1}$	[16]
Chlorella sorokiniana Ce	tris-acetate-phosphate (TAP) medium, 120 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ pH 7.2, 30 $^{\circ}C$	sulfur-free TAP medium (TAP-S), 120 μE m^{-2} $s^{-1},$ pH 7.2, 30 °C, batch mode, 500 mL flasks bottles	$1.35 \text{ mL } \mathrm{L^{-1} } \mathrm{h^{-1}}$	[17]
Chlorella vulgaris	Artificial wastewater medium, immobilized, 140 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$, 25 \pm 1 °C	Wastewater medium + 10 g L ⁻¹ glucose + sulfur deprivation, 140 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , purple light, 25 ± 1 °C, under N atmosphere pH 8	1.63 mL $L^{-1}h^{-1}$ (or 39.18 mL L^{-1} day $^{-1})$	[18]
Scenedesmus obliquus	Artificial wastewater medium, immobilized, 140 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$, 25 \pm 1 $^{\circ}C$	W ₂ atmosphere, pH o Wastewater medium + 10 g L ⁻¹ glucose + sulfur deprivation, 140 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , purple light, 25 ± 1 °C, under N ₂ atmosphere. pH 8	8.53 mL $L^{-1}h^{-1}$ (or 204.8 mL L^{-1} day $^{-1})$	[18]
Chlorella Salina Mt	tris-acetate-phosphate (TAP) medium, 30 °C, 120 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},~pH$ 7.2	sulfur-free TAP medium (TAP-S), 30 °C, 120 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ pH 7.2, 500 mL flasks	$0.5 \text{ mL } L^{-1} h^{-1}$	[17]
Chlorella sorokiniana KU204	tris-acetate-phosphate (TAP) medium $+$ 0.7 mM N4Cl, 25 °C, 35 μE m^-2 s^-1, 14:10 h light/dark cycle, pH 7.3	sulfur-free TAP medium (TAP-S) $+$ 0.7 mM NH4Cl, 25 °C, 35 μE m $^{-2}$ s $^{-1}$, pH 7.3, under Ar, 650 mL bioreactors	Maximum H_2 1.30 mL $L^{-1} h^{-1}$ And total H_2 89.64 mL L^{-1}	[13]
Chlorella sp. KU209	tris-acetate-phosphate (TAP) medium $+$ 0.7 mM N4Cl, 25 °C, 35 μE m $^{-2}$ s $^{-1}$, 14:10 h light/dark cycle, pH 7.3	sulfur-free TAP medium (TAP-S) $+$ 0.7 mM NH_4Cl, 25 °C, 35 μE m^-2 s^-1, pH 7.3, under Ar, 650 mL bioreactors	12.67 mL L ⁻¹	[13]
Chlorella lewinii KU201	tris-acetate-phosphate (TAP) medium $+$ 0.7 mM N4Cl, 25 °C, 35 μE m $^{-2}$ s $^{-1}$, 14:10 h light/dark cycle, pH 7.3	sulfur-free TAP medium (TAP-S) $+$ 0.7 mM NH_4Cl, 25 °C, 35 μE m^-2 s^-1, pH 7.3, under Ar, 650 mL bioreactors	13.03 mL L^{-1}	[13]
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii Dangeard C137+	tris-acetate-phosphate (TAP) medium, 28–30 °C, 20 –40 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$	sulfur-free TAP medium (TAP-S), at 30 mg L ⁻¹ chl, 52 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , under argon (Ar), in 500 mL cylindrical bottles or at light intensity 40 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹	175 mL L ⁻¹ 8.8 mL L ⁻¹ h ⁻¹ after 49 h	[12]
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii CC1036 pf18 mt+	immobilized on fiber glass, tris-acetate-phosphate (TAP) medium, 120 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ 27–29 $^\circ C$	sulfur-free TAP medium (TAP-S), at 6 mL L ⁻¹ flow rate of TAP medium, 120 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , under argon (Ar), using rectangular PBR (160 mL volume)	2375 mL L^{-1} _{PBR} over 23 days	[19]
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii CC1036 pf18 mt+	immobilized on fiber glass, tris-acetate-phosphate (TAP) medium, 120 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , 27–29 °C	a steady flow rate of TAP medium with $10-20 \mu M$ sulfate, under argon (Ar), rectangular PBR (160 mL volume)	2812 mL $L^{-1}_{\ \mbox{PBR}}$ for 90 days	[20]
Chlorella vulgaris NIER-10003	MA medium, 95% air + 5% CO2, pH 8.0, 120 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ 25 °C	sulfur-deprived (MA-S) medium, cylindrical, conical ended photobioreactor (1 L)	$809 \pm 10 \text{ mL L}^{-1}$	[21]
Chlorella protothecoides	TAP medium, pH 7.3 \pm 1, 25 \pm 1 °C, 30–35 μE m $^{-2}$ s $^{-1}$, 14 h:10 h light-dark cycle	TAP medium by N-limited combined with sulfur- deprived (LNS), 30–40 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$ after 24 h, Glass tubes (16.5 mL)	140.4 mL L ⁻¹	[22]
Chlorella pyrenoidosa	Tris-Acetate-Phosphate (TAP) medium $+$ 10 mM NaHCO3 (TCP medium), immobilized, pH 7, 180 \pm 10 μE m $^{-2}$ s $^{-1}$, 28 °C, a 3.925- L airlift PBR	TCP medium + injection of 10 μ M DCMU (3-(3,4-dichlorophenyl)-1,1-dimethylurea), after 9 h injection, under N ₂ , under 24 h darkness then 180 \pm 10 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , 28 °C, anaerobic bottles with 75 mL TCP medium	93.86 mL L ⁻¹	[23]
Tetraspora sp. CU2551	Tris-Acetate-Phosphate (TAP) medium, immobilized, pH 7.2, 29 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ 36 °C, 125-mL Erlenmeyer flasks	sulfur-free TAP medium (TAP-S), under air, pH 7.2, 29 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , 36 °C, 100-mL gas-tight vials	$\begin{array}{l} 0.182 \pm 0.020 \ \mu mol \ h^{-1} \ mg^{-1} \ dry \\ wt \end{array}$	[24]
Tetraspora sp. CU2551	Tris-Acetate-Phosphate (TAP) medium, immobilized, pH 7.2, 29 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ 36 °C, 125-mL Erlenmeyer flasks	sulfur-free TAP medium (TAP-S), under Ar, pH 7.2, 29 μE m^{-2} s^{-1}, 36 °C, 100-mL gas-tight vials	$\begin{array}{l} 1.182 \pm 0.024 \ \mu mol \ h^{-1} \ mg^{-1} \ dry \\ wt \end{array}$	[25]
Closterium moniliferum AARL G041	Jaworski's medium (JM), autotrophically, 30.8 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ 25 $^{\circ}C$	sulfur-free JM medium (JM-S), 54 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ 25 °C, under Ar, 60 mL vial serum bottles	0.38 μ mol h ⁻¹ mg ⁻¹ (Chl)	[14]
Chlorella sp. AARL G014	Tris-Acetate-Phosphate (TAP) medium, mixotrophically, 30.8 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ 25 $^\circ C$	sulfur-free TAP medium (TAP-S), 54 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ 25 °C, under Ar, 60 mL vial serum bottles	0.49 μ mol h ⁻¹ mg ⁻¹ (Chl)	[14]
Ulothrix cf. tenerrima AARL G029	Tris-Acetate-Phosphate (TAP) medium, 30.8 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ 25 $^{\circ}C$	sulfur-free TAP medium (TAP-S), 54 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ 25 °C, under Ar, 60 mL vial serum bottles	$0.31 \ \mu mol \ h^{-1} \ mg^{-1}$ (Chl)	[14]

Table 2 – H₂ production rate by various cyanobacteria.

Cyanobacteria	Growth conditions	H ₂ production condition	H ₂ production rate	References
Anabaena variabilis PK84	Allen and Arnon medium, air $+2\%$ CO ₂ , sunlight	Allen and Arnon medium, air +2% $\rm CO_2,$ sunlight, batch	45.8 mL h^{-1} (or total $\rm H_2$ of 24.5 L)	[40]
Auchement DCC 7100 Aller		mode, during 40 days, 4.35 L- outdoor tubular PBR	0.00 m	[44]
Anabaena sp. PCC 7120 AHup	8 times-alluted Allen-Amon medium (AA/8), 30 μ F m ⁻² s ⁻¹ 27 °C 99% pir + 1% CO-	8 times-alluted Allen-Arnon mealum without nitrogen $(AA/8-N)$ medium 290 and 340 μ F m ⁻² s ⁻¹ Ar with 5%	$0.86 \text{ mL n}^{-1} \text{ L}^{-1} \text{ or } 33.2 \text{ mL } \text{ L}^{-1} \text{ during}$	[41]
	$50 \mu\text{E}\text{m}$ 3 , 27 G, 55% an $\pm 1\%$ GO ₂	CO_2 , and 3.3% N_2 , pH 8.2, 22 °C. Plastic bags (1 L)	5 davs	
Anabaena variabilis PK84	Nitrogen-free BG11 medium (BG11 ₀ medium) + Na_3VO_4 ,	$BG11_0$ medium + Na ₃ VO ₄ , 353 µE m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , under 99%	$20 \text{ mL L}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$	[42]
	80 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$, 99% air $+$ 1% CO2, 30 °C	Ar $+$ 1% CO $_2$, pH 7 \pm 0.05, 36 °C, a 1.25 L-three coaxial glass cylinders PBR		
Gloeocapsa alpicola CALU 743ª	First stage: BG11 medium $+$ 1.5 μM NiCl_2, 165 μE m^{-2} s^{-1} ,	Nitrogen-free BG11 medium (BG11_0 medium) + 1.5 μM	$20 \text{ mL L}^{-1}_{\text{matrix}} h^{-1}$	[38]
	temperature 30 °C, 98% air + 2% CO ₂ , immobilized in a	$NiCl_2 + 10 \text{ mM}$ HEPES, pH 7.5, under dark and Ar		
	glass fiber, second stage: in a 160 mL rectangular PBR + immobilized in a glass fiber, a mixture of 98% air + 2% CO = 28 %C 72 \times E m ⁻² a ⁻¹	atmosphere, a 160 mL rectangular PBR		
Anahaena PCC 7120	air + 2% GO ₂ , 28 °G, 72 µE m ⁻ S ⁻ Nitrogen-free BG11 medium (BG11, medium	replacing glucose with $1\% (w/v)$ pretreated algal biomass	1600 mJ. J. ⁻¹	[39]
Anabacha i GG / 120	thermophilic mixed culture. 120 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ . a 1.4 L airlift	with amylase, batch mode, thermophilic condition, for		[33]
	PBR	24 h, under N_2 atmosphere, pH 5.5, a 500 mL double		
		jacketed bioreactor		
Immobilized Synechocystis sp. PCC	BG11 medium, 28 °C, 70 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , 97% air +3% CO ₂ ,	nitrogen-free medium BG11 ₀ -Tris, 60 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , 28 °C,	Total H_2 5.80 ± 0.14 mL Or	[30]
6803ª	Glass tube (400 mL)	under N_2 atmosphere, serum vials (60 mL)	maximum $H_2 5./3 \pm 0.69$ mL mg	
Nostoc linckia HA-46	BG-11 medium light intensity 3000 lx (Lux) 28 + 3 °C	BG-11 medium 18 h·6 h light-dark cycle nH 8 0 31 °C	$93-105 \text{ µmol } \text{h}^{-1} \text{ mg}^{-1}$ (Chl)	[43]
		CO_2 :Ar ratio 2:10, after 24 h, 15-mL vials		[10]
Calothrix elenkinii	BG11 medium, pH 7.5, bubbling with air, 50 $\mu E \; m^{-2} \; s^{-1}$,	Nitrate-free BG11 medium (BG11 $_0$ medium) + 0.3%	$0.09 \pm 0.01 \ \mu mol \ mg^{-1}$ (Chl) h^{-1}	[33]
	30 °C	glucose, under Ar, optimal pH 7.5, 25 °C, 250 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$, a		
Fischeralle mussicale	$PC11$ modium will 7 Γ hubbling with siz $\Gamma 0$ Γ m ⁻² s ⁻¹	20-mL vial	$0.25 + 0.02$ are alreading a^{-1} (Chl) h ⁻¹	[22]
Fischerella muscicola	30 °C	Sumula and multiple BG11 medium (BG11 ₀ -S medium) $\pm 0.1\%$ glucose under Ar optimal pH 7.5	$0.35 \pm 0.08 \mu \text{mol mg}$ (Cm) n	[33]
		temperature 25 °C, 250 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , a 20- mL vial		
Nostoc calcicola	BG11 medium, pH 7.5, bubbling with air, 50 $\mu E \; m^{-2} \; s^{-1}$,	Nitrate-free BG11 medium (BG11 ₀ medium)+ 0.1%	$0.09 \pm 0.01 \ \mu mol \ mg^{-1}$ (Chl) h^{-1}	[33]
	30 °C	glucose, under Ar, optimal pH 7.5, 25 $^\circ\text{C}$, 250 $\mu\text{E}~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$, a		
		20- mL vial		[00]
Scytonema bohneri	BG11 medium, pH 7.5, bubbling with air, 50 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻² ,	Nitrate-free BG11 medium (BG11 ₀ medium)+ 0.3% glucoso under Ar optimal pH 7.5 $25 \degree C$ $250 \ \mu\text{Fm}^{-2} \ \text{s}^{-1}$ a	$0.09 \pm 0.01 \ \mu mol mg^{-1}(Chl) h^{-1}$	[33]
	50 C	20- mL vial		
Tolypothrix distorta	BG11 medium, pH 7.5, bubbling with air, 50 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ ,	Nitrate-free BG11 medium (BG11 $_0$ medium) + 0.1%	$0.21 \pm 0.05 \ \mu mol \ mg^{-1}$ (Chl) h ⁻¹	[33]
	30 °C	glucose, under Ar, optimal pH 7.5, 25 °C, 250 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$, a		
		20- mL vial		
Gloebacter PCC7421ª	BG11 medium, pH 7, bubbling with air, 20 μE m $^{-2}$ s $^{-1}$, 25 $-30\ ^\circ C$	under Ar, 30 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$, 7.8 mL gas-tight bottles	1.38 μ mol mg ⁻¹ (Chl) h ⁻¹	[36]
Nostoc muscorum	Arnon's (AA) medium with KNO_3 , $30 \pm 1 °C$, $16 h$: 8 h light-dark cycle, light intensity 3 klx (Kilolux)	nitrogen-free AA-N medium + glucose, 40 °C, after 24 h, under light and Ar. 13-mL vials	0.046 μ mol h ⁻¹ mg ⁻¹ dry mass	[44]
Leptolyngbya valderiana BDU20041	ASN III medium, light intensity 13.7 W m ⁻² , 27 \pm 2 °C	Nitrogen-free ASN III-N medium, 27 ± 2 °C, after 24 h, under dark and Ar atmosphere	0.019 $\mu mol \; h^{-1} \; mg^{-1} \; dry \; wt$	[45]
Plectonema terebrans BDU141311	ASN III medium, light intensity 13.7 W m ⁻² , 27 \pm 2 °C	Nitrogen-free ASN III–N medium, 27 ± 2 °C. after 24 h.	0.013 μ mol h ⁻¹ mg ⁻¹ dry wt	[45]
		under light and N_2 atmosphere		

476

Plectonema terebrans BDU30343	ASN III medium, light intensity 13.7 W m $^{-2}$, 27 \pm 2 $^\circ C$	Nitrogen-free ASN III–N medium, 27 \pm 2 $^\circ$ C, after 24 h, $~~$ 0.015 $\mu mol~h^{-1}~mg^{-1}~d$ under dark and N_2 atmosphere	[45]
Lyngbya confervoides BDU142001	ASN III medium, light intensity 13.7 W m $^{-2}$, 27 \pm 2 $^\circ C$	Nitrogen-free ASN III–N medium, 27 \pm 2 °C, after 24 h, $~0.021~\mu mol~h^{-1}~mg^{-1}~d$ under dark and N_2 atmosphere	[45]
Lyngbya confervoides BDU140301	ASN III medium, light intensity 13.7 W m $^{-2},$ 27 \pm 2 $^\circ C$	Nitrogen-free ASN III–N medium, temperature 27 \pm 2°C, 0.013 μ mol h^{-1} mg^{-1} d after 24 h, under dark and Ar atmosphere	[45]
Microcoleus chthnoplasts BDU91212	ASN III medium, light intensity 13.7 W m $^{-2}$, 27 \pm 2 $^\circ C$	Nitrogen-free ASN III–N medium, temperature 27 ± 2 °C, 0.017 µmol h ⁻¹ mg ⁻¹ d after 24 h, under light and Ar atmosphere,	[45]
Geitlerinema sp. RMK-SH10	ASN III medium, 30 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ 30 $^{\circ} C$	Nitrogen-free ASN III–N medium +0.2 M NaCl 0.271 μ mol h ⁻¹ mg ⁻¹ d +18.9 mmol C-atom L ⁻¹ glucose +0.1 μ M Ni ²⁺ , 30 °C, under dark and Ar atmosphere, a 10-mL gas-tight vial	[37]
Gloeocapsa alpicola CALU 743=(Synechocystis PCC 6308) ^a	BG11_0 medium, 165 $\mu E \ m^{-2} \ s^{-1},$ 98% air + 2% CO2, 30 °C	BG110 medium, under dark and Ar atmosphere, optimal $~25~\mu L~h^{-1}~mg^{-1}$ dry wt pH 6.8–8.3, 40 °C, 40-mL bottles	[46]
Oscillatoria sp. Miami BG7	medium A, Nitrogen-free medium A-N, and combined nitrogen-limited medium, 30 W, 25 °C	combined nitrogen-limited medium with 5 mL g ⁻¹ KNO ₃ , 6.4 μ L h ⁻¹ mg ⁻¹ dry with 7.0, under Ar, 30 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , 25 °C, a 15 mL glass flask (260 μ mol mg ⁻¹ (Chl) h	[47]
Anabaena variabilis ATCC 29413	Allen–Arnon medium, 65 \pm 2 μE m $^{-2}$ s $^{-1}$, 95% air + 5% CO $_2$, 30 °C	Allen-Arnon medium, under Ar atmosphere, 7.73 mL g ⁻¹ dry cell h ⁻¹ $150 \pm 5 \mu \text{E} \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$, A flat panel PBR	[27]
^a = is unicellular strain.			

3. Macro and micronutrients

Microalgae culture medium can be considered as an artificial and sterile environment in which microorganisms are able to grow and reproduce. Such environments must provide four main components, i.e. nutrients, rare elements, water, and carbon dioxide for optimal microalgae growth. For example, hydrogen production by *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803 increased 150 folds when key nutrients were optimized in the culture medium [48]. Carbon, nitrogen, hydrogen, and oxygen are the most important macronutrients for algal and cyanobacterial growth and are listed with micronutrients in Table 4 [49].

3.1. Source of C

Carbon source not only is an essential and major substance for algal growth and H₂ production but also the yield of biomass and hydrogen production varies depending on the type and amount of this element [50]. Carbon can exist either in the inorganic (CO₂) or organic form (glucose, mannitol, acetate, sucrose, ...) which algae species consume for their growth and convert to starch and glycogen which is used in anaerobic conditions [51]. However, the amount of starch and glycogen storage by microalgae is restricted which leads to a low level of H₂ production, especially when they utilize CO₂ as their carbon source (in autotrophic conditions); hence, to increase the rate of hydrogen production, exogenic carbon sources have been supplied like glucose, fructose, sucrose, malt extract, malic acid, acetate, and organic wastewater [52]. Table 3 shows a comparison of H₂ production under heterotrophic and autotrophic conditions. In heterotrophic conditions (organic carbon source), microalgae can produce more hydrogen than under autotrophic conditions. Moreover, hydrogen production under heterotrophic conditions can be more economical when less expensive carbon sources (organic wastes) are used and when there is no need for an artificial light source [50]. Researchers studied different organic carbon sources such as malic acid, butyric acid, acetic acid, potato starch, cellulose, corn starch, fructose, sucrose, and malt extract to evaluate the possibility of H₂ production from these resources. Only glucose, fructose, sucrose, and malt extract were found to be suitable for hydrogen production with an average rate of 8, 24, 18 and 19 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} and maximum volume of 812 \pm 5, 874 \pm 5, 1315 \pm 5, and 1144 \pm 5 mL L⁻¹, respectively (Table 3). They also found that the optimum concentration of each carbon source was 5 g L^{-1} and above this value, the amount of H₂ production decreased [21]. Another work investigated the impact of glucose, sucrose, fructose, and malt extract as carbon sources on hydrogen production by Microcystis aeruginosa [53]. A maximum hydrogen yield of 1243 \pm 3 mL L⁻¹ and an average rate of 21.05 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} was produced using malt extract (Table 3). Chen et al. (2008) also observed that using 200 mg L^{-1} fructose and sucrose as a substrate for Anabaena sp. CH₃, it was able to produce 0.0016 and 0.001 mol of hydrogen, respectively [54]. Some studies investigated the effect of acetate on H₂ production. For example, Laurinavichene et al. (2006) emphasized the importance of using acetate for hydrogen production from sulfur-deprived C. reinhardtii. They

Table 3 – Different carbon sources for H ₂ production by various microalgae and cyanobacteria.					
Microorganism	Substrate	H ₂ production rate	Reference		
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii	Acetate	2.1 mL $L^{-1}_{cult} h^{-1}$	[19]		
Chlorella vulgaris	Glucose (5 g L^{-1})	8 mL L^{-1} h^{-1}	[21]		
	Fructose (5 g L^{-1})	$24 \text{ mL L}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$			
	Sucrose (5 g L^{-1})	18 mL L ⁻¹ h ⁻¹			
	Malt extract (5 g L^{-1})	19 mL L ⁻¹ h ⁻¹			
Microcystis aeruginosa	Glucose (5 g L^{-1})	3.07 mL L ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	[53]		
	Fructose (5 g L^{-1})	$10.1 \text{ mL L}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$			
	Sucrose (5 g L^{-1})	12.5 mL $L^{-1} h^{-1}$			
	Malt extract (5 g L^{-1})	21.05 mL L ⁻¹ h ⁻¹			
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii	(2% CO ₂ + Acetate)	1.67 mL L ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	[56]		
	2% CO ₂	$0.31 \pm 16.7 \text{ mL L}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$	[60]		
	Acetate	1.43 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} in synchronized culture	[61]		
	Acetate	1.14 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} in unsynchronized culture	[61]		
Chlorella sorokiniana Ce	Acetate	$1.35 \text{ mL L}^{-1}_{\text{cult}} \text{ h}^{-1}$	[17]		
Calothrix elenkinii	0.3% (w/v) Glucose	$3.21 \pm 0.19 \ \mu mol \ mg^{-1}$ (Chl) h^{-1}	[33]		
Fischerella muscicola	0.1% (w/v) Glucose	$8.73 \pm 0.43 \ \mu mol mg^{-1}$ (Chl) h^{-1}			
Scytonema bohneri	0.3% (w/v) Glucose	$7.63 \pm 0.26 \ \mu mol mg^{-1}$ (Chl) h^{-1}			
Nostoc calcicola	0.1% (w/v) Glucose	$4.27 \pm 0.17 \ \mu mol \ mg^{-1}$ (Chl) h^{-1}			
Tolypothrix distorta	0.1% (w/v) Glucose	$10.95 \pm 0.22 \ \mu mol mg^{-1}$ (Chl) h ⁻¹			
Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803	0.1% Glucose	$0.12 \pm 0.02 \ \mu mol \ mg^{-1}$ (Chl) h^{-1}	[62]		
Oscillotoria limosa	0.5% (w/v) Glucose	34.5 μ mol mg ⁻¹ (Chl) h ⁻¹	[63]		
Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803	NaHCO ₃	$0.81 \pm 0.36 \ \mu mol \ mg^{-1}$ (Chl) h^{-1}	[48]		
Anabaena siamensis TISTR 8012	0.5% Fructose	31.79 μ mol mg $^{-1}$ (Chl) h $^{-1}$	[64]		
	CO ₂	15.2 μ mol mg ⁻¹ (Chl) h ⁻¹			
Cyanothece sp. ATCC 51142	Glycerol	$3.729 \text{ mL g}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$	[65]		
Chlamydomonas MGA 161	5% CO ₂	$0.97 \pm 0.21 \ \mu mol \ mg^{-1} \ dry \ wt$ (6 h) $^{-1}$	[66]		
Anabaena cylindrica B 629	3% CO ₂	$0.103~\mu mol~mg^{-1}~dry~wt~h^{-1}$	[67]		
Anabaena variabilis ATCC 29413	5% CO ₂	7.73 mL g ⁻¹ dry cell h^{-1}	[27]		
Anabaena azollae	2% CO ₂	13 mL $L^{-1}_{cult} h^{-1}$	[28]		
Chroococcidiopsis thermalis CALU 758	1% CO ₂	0.7 μ mol mg $^{-1}$ (Chl) h $^{-1}$	[68]		
Anabaena PCC 7120	1% CO ₂	8 μ mol mg $^{-1}$ (Chl) h $^{-1}$	[69]		
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii CC124	3% CO ₂	$0.32 \text{ mL } \text{L}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$	[70]		
Anabaena variabilis ATCC 29413	5% CO ₂	31 μ mol mg ⁻¹ (Chl) h ⁻¹	[71]		
Gloeocapsa alpicola CALU 743	4% CO ₂	$0.14~\mu mol~mg~protein^{-1}~h^{-1}$	[72]		
Anabaena variabilis AVM13	1% CO ₂	68 μ mol mg ⁻¹ (Chl) h ⁻¹	[73]		
Anabaena variabilis PK84	2% CO ₂	$80 \text{ mL } \text{h}^{-1}$	[74]		

Table 4 – Typical elemental composition of algal biomass; adapted from Ref. [49].

Element	Mass per dry weight of microalgae ($\mu g m g^{-1}$)	Element	Mass per dry weight of microalgae (μ g mg $^{-1}$)
Carbon	175–650	Potassium	1–75
Oxygen	205-330	Phosphorus	0.5-33
Hydrogen	29–100	Magnesium	0.5–75
Nitrogen	10-140	Sodium	0.4–47
Calcium	0-80	Iron	0.2-34
Sulfur	1.5–16	Boron	0.001-0.25
Zinc	0.005-1.0	Copper	0.006-0.3
Manganese	0.02-0.24	Molybdenum	0.0002-0.001
Silica	0–230	Cobalt	0.0001-0.2

observed that in the absence of acetate no hydrogen was produced, while adding 16.7 mM acetate led to a total H_2 production of 300 mL [19]. Another work also showed that 17 mM acetate in the culture medium was necessary for H_2 production from sulfur-deprived *C. reinhardtii*. A rapid increase in hydrogen production rate of 0.24 mL L⁻¹ h⁻¹ and complete consumption of acetate was then followed by a sudden decrease in bioH₂ production [55]. Kosourov et al. (2007) also studied H₂ production by sulfur-deprived *C. reinhardtii* under photomixotrophic condition. They found that in order to produce a maximum hydrogen yield of 4.5 \pm 1.6 mmol L⁻¹ or 100 mL L⁻¹, both acetate (17.4 mM) and CO₂ (2%) were essential (Table 3) [56]. In a different study using wastewater as a culture medium, the impact of different acetate/Cl⁻ ratios on hydrogen production from C. *reinhardtii* and C. *sorokiniana* were investigated. At a constant Cl⁻ concentration of 17 mM, an optimal concentration of acetate was found to be 25 mM which resulted in a H₂ production rate of 15–19.8 µmol L⁻¹ h⁻¹ for C. *sorokiniana* and 12–22.8 µmol L⁻¹ h⁻¹ for C. *reinhardtii* [57]. However, Skjanes et al. (2007) suggested using CO₂ emission from industries because carbon dioxide is cheaper, and the process can

sequester CO_2 from the atmosphere [58]. Marques et al. (2011) also studied the inclusion of 1% CO_2 in the gas phase of glass bottles with a 30 mL culture of Anabaena sp. PCC 7120 and its mutants (hupL⁻ and hupL⁻/hoxH⁻). They observed that the highest H₂ production rate of 62.6 and 54.8 µmol H₂ mg⁻¹ (Chl a) h⁻¹ was achieved by hupL⁻ and hupL⁻/hoxH⁻, respectively [59].

3.2. Nitrogen

Nitrogen which is the second most important element for algal and cyanobacterial growth constitutes 7% of algal dry weight (wt). To prepare a culture medium, nitrogen can be sourced from an organic (e.g. urea) or inorganic form (nitrate NO_3^- , ammonium NH_4^+) [75]. As nitrogen plays an important role in microalgal metabolic pathways, an increase in nitrogen concentration in the medium produces more cells. It was reported that adding nitrate during fed-batch culture led to an increase of 56.6% and 68.8% CO2 uptake rate for microalgae and cyanobacteria, respectively because the exponential growth phase expanded for more than 3 days [76]. On the other hand, a deficiency of this nutrient leads to a significant increase in lipid storage and a restriction in photosynthesis [77]. The source of nitrogen such as nitrogen-ammonia, glutamate, or yeast extract influences hydrogen production due to the inhibition of the nitrogenase enzyme in cyanobacteria by ammonia [78]. A 4-fold increase in H₂ production was observed by C. elenkinii, F. muscicola, N. calcicola, S. bohneri, T. distorta when they were cultivated in a medium without nitrate [33]. Researchers also reported that by transferring Aphanothece halophytica from BG-11 medium with 17 mM NaNO₃ to a nitrate-free medium the rate of hydrogen production increased from about 0.4 to 1.617 \pm 0.187 μ mol $H_2 \text{ mg}^{-1}$ (Chl a) h^{-1} [79]. However, it was reported that an immobilized cyanobacterial species like A. variabilis ATCC 29413 could produce up to 67 mL h^{-1} L⁻¹ after 2 months in a contaminated medium with ammonium if it is cultivated in a photobioreactor [80].

Dinitrogen gas (N₂) (in the headspace of PBR) can also inhibit hydrogen production by cyanobacteria. In the presence of N₂, around 75% of ATP and electrons that are transferred to the active site of the molybdenum-nitrogenase, are available for hydrogen production, while in the N2-free atmosphere all electrons and ATP transferred are used for bioH₂ production [81]. To evaluate the effect of dinitrogen gas on hydrogen production, Yeager et al. (2011) used different N₂ atmospheres with argon (<1, 5, 20, or 80%) for Anabaena cylindrica B629, Tolypothrix sp. B379, Anabaena sp. PCC 7120, Fischerella muscicola PCC 7414, Nostoc commune MFG-1, Scytonema hylanium NCC-4B, Calothrix sp. MCC-3, and Fischerella sp. Dx-SRS. They found that all strains were able to produce the greatest volumes of hydrogen in <1% N₂ concentration of the headspace, but hydrogen volumes under 5, 20, and 80% $\ensuremath{N_2}$ were less than 38-61%, 71-92%, and 89-97%, respectively in comparison with <1% N2 [81]. Other researchers also claimed that in the presence of a high amount of dinitrogen gas, Anabaena sp. PCC 7120 could only produce a small amount of hydrogen [82]. Another study confirmed that A. variabilis produced a low volume H₂ under 93% Ar, 5% N₂, and 2% CO₂ atmosphere [83].

3.3. Sulfur

Sulfur is another important element for algal growth and hydrogen production. Most studies have evaluated the effect of sulfur deprivation on H₂ production by causing stress conditions leading to an accumulation of carbohydrate and lipids in algal cells which in turn are consumed by cells to produce biohydrogen [84]. As sulfur deprivation restricts photosynthesis activity, restrains O2 evolution, reduces carbon sequestration, and increases starch and lipids catabolism, it provides favorable conditions for hydrogen production. Sulfur deprivation is affected by light and cultivation conditions that results in a variation in bioH₂ production [50,85]. The impact of light on sulfur deprivation is discussed in more details in another paragraph dedicated to the light effect. Regarding cultivation conditions, the concentration of CO2 influences anaerobiosis in sulfur deprivation. For example, if microalgae grow in a medium with a high CO₂ concentration, early anaerobiosis is attained due to consumption of all sulfur by cells which leads to anaerobic conditions and more H2 production. Anaerobiosis also depends on growth phase, for example, early anaerobiosis is achieved when microalgae are harvested at the end of exponential and stationary phases. If cells are collected during exponential phase, sulfur cannot be completely consumed and as a result H₂ production decreases [50]. According to Kosourov et al. (2005), a periodic addition of sulfate causes a restoration of hydrogen generation [86]. Culture density also affects anaerobiosis in sulfur deprivation. A high cell density reduces light penetration which results in slowing photoinhibition and delaying anaerobic conditions [50]. Further studies need to be carried out in order to comprehend sulfur deprivation process and hydrogen production improvement. However, Barrows et al. (2008) simulated an experiment for Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 to optimize the concentration of sulfur, nitrogen and carbon (the most essential nutrients for H₂ production). They found a maximum H_2 production rate of 0.81 \pm 0.36 μ mol H_2 mg $Chl^{-1} h^{-1}$ under optimal concentrations of 20.1 μ M sulfate, 0.52 μ M ammonium, and 46 μ M bicarbonate and they also reported the superiority of optimized sulfur and nitrogen to their deprivation [48].

3.4. Phosphorus

Phosphorus which is also essential for algal growth and H_2 production is provided for microorganisms in the form of organic or inorganic nutrients [75]. As about 1% of algal dry wt consists of phosphorus, any surplus of phosphorus leads to a decrease in the H_2 yield, whereas a deficiency of phosphorus impacts the photosynthesis activities as well as the biomass productivity; hence, an optimal concentration of phosphorus is required [77,87,88].

3.5. Microelements

Supplementation of organic and inorganic micronutrients (metal ions) is not only necessary for algal and cyanobacterial growth but also to activate enzymes to produce hydrogen [89,90]. The main and major microelements include sulfur, iron, magnesium, potassium, sodium, manganese, zinc,

cobalt, molybdenum, etc. that are presented in Table 4 [49]; each of these microelements has a specific function, and a deficiency in one of them will lead to a decrease in algal growth as well as H₂ production [85,89]. Iron is essential for H₂ production for those organisms relying on hydrogenase enzymes, which have a Fe-Fe center. A deficiency of iron induces a decline in cell density and size and inhibits protein synthesis [90]. It was found that high iron concentration led to a positive effect on cells due to the dependency of hydrogenase to iron [89]. Another study also demonstrated the importance of Fe for hydrogen production by cyanobacterium A. halophytica using different Fe^{3+} concentrations and it was concluded that the highest rate of H₂ production was obtained with 0.4 μ M Fe³⁺ which resulted in 20 times more hydrogen than in an iron-free BG11 medium [79]. Magnesium and copper are vital and necessary for nitrogenase activity and algal photosynthetic mechanism. A molybdenum deficiency may affect nitrogen absorption at a cellular level [89].

4. Light requirements

Light is an essential component for algal and cyanobacterial growth as well as biohydrogen production, and it is supplied either naturally using sunlight or artificially by fluorescent lamps installed outside and inside of photobioreactors, depending on the species requirements [89]. As cell growth and H₂ production depend on light through photosynthesis to consume carbon to produce starch or glycogen for hydrogen production, a selection of an adequate light supply is a key factor to optimize not only phase 1 (photosynthesis) but also phase 2 (anaerobic phase for hydrogen production). Also, the degree of illumination will determine whether microorganisms are in the respiration phase (no light available), suffer from deprivation, are in the saturation phase, or experience photoinhibition [89]. Hence, the quantity, pattern, wavelength of light as well as photobioreactor configuration play an important role in the growth of microalgae and cyanobacteria.

i. Effect of wavelength on H₂ production

The photosynthesis process uses light energy in the range of 300-700 nm. It was reported that the most appropriate range of wavelength for bioH₂ production is 20–30 nm [50]. To achieve this wavelength, the selection of a light source is important. Light emitting diodes (LEDs) provide a narrow range of wavelength (20-30 nm) which leads to more hydrogen production compared to other sources of light such as monochromatic lights. Moreover, the spectral distribution of LEDs influences the rate of bioH₂ production [50,91]. Generally, white LEDs result in less bioH₂ than red and blue [91]. Salleh et al. (2016) investigated the effects of different color lights on hydrogen production by A. variabilis ATCC 29413 and they found that with an increase in the light intensity from 70 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ to 350 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹, the total hydrogen production using blue light was twice that obtained using white light. The H₂ production under blue light was due to an enhancement of light energy absorption in the blue spectrum (430-445 nm) and the nitrogenase enzyme was found to be more active in that range.

ii. Effect of the light pattern on H₂ production

The light pattern is another factor that has an effect on hydrogen production. Uyar et al. (2007) observed that hydrogen was produced throughout a light period while during a dark period, bioH₂ production was stopped [92]. However, other researchers claimed that cyanobacteria like Anabaena can produce hydrogen during the light period but also during the dark period due to their bidirectional hydrogenase enzyme [93]. Tamagnini et al. (2002) also believed that cyanobacteria benefit from dark periods because hydrogenase enzymes are really sensitive to O₂ produced under light periods, and having a discontinuous light (a light-dark cycle) will allow cyanobacterial strains to consume oxygen when they are in the dark and as a result avoid the inactivation of hydrogenases and bidirectional hydrogenase [94]. Marques et al. (2011) studied H₂ production by Anabaena sp. PCC 7120 (wild type and mutants) under an argon atmosphere at 54 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ light intensity and using a 16 h light/8 h dark cycle. It was reported that the amount of bioH₂ production by the wild strain under the 16:8 h cycle was the same as under continuous illumination, but the hupL⁻, the hoxH⁻ and hupL⁻/hoxH⁻ mutant strains produced 2.1, 1.5, and 1.9 times more hydrogen [59]. A study reported that the maximum hydrogen production by C. vulgaris was $530 \pm 5 \text{ mL L}^{-1}$ when cells were illuminated for 24 h followed by 24 h of darkness. When cells were exposed to continuous light for 3 days, H₂ production declined to 496 \pm 4 mL L⁻¹. Seventy-two hours of darkness resulted in 348 \pm 6 mL L⁻¹, while 1 day in darkness followed by 48 h of light resulted in 448 \pm 4 mL L⁻¹ [52]. These authors also studied H₂ production by Microcystis aeruginosa under darkness, light, and partial darkness (less than 24 h in darkness and then light applied). The maximum H₂ production was found to be 490 mL L⁻¹ with light, while the highest H₂ volumes produced under full and partial darkness were 383 and 217 \pm 3 mL L⁻¹, respectively [53]. Another work investigated the impact of three light-dark cycles (12:12, 14:10, and 18:06 h) on bioH₂ production by C. reinhardtii CC124 and compared it with continuous illumination at 70 \pm 2 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹. It was observed that applying light-dark cycles instead of continuous illumination led to a significant decrease in total $bioH_2$ production from 210.91 \pm 14.29 mL L⁻¹ in 27 days–124.55 \pm 9.10, 97.27 \pm 9.10, and 92.73 \pm 7.28 mL L⁻¹ (in 27 days) under the daily cycles of 18:06, 14:10 and 12:12 h, respectively [70]. Although some studies have been carried out with certain strains, it is not exhaustive, and more research should be done with other strains to determine if the light pattern should be determined on a case-by-case basis or if it can be generalized for all strains. Also, it is still not clear whether a certain light pattern is optimum for both cell growth and hydrogen production or whether a different light pattern could be beneficial for cell growth and H₂ production.

iii. Effect of light intensity on H₂ production

Depending on each algal and cyanobacterial strain, the impact of light intensity on cell growth and hydrogen production varies. According to Laurinavichene et al. (2004), sulfur-deprived C. reinhardtii produced the maximum level of H_2 (130 mL L⁻¹) at a light intensity in the range of 20–30 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ after 120–150 h, but with an increase in the light intensity to 80 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹, the H₂ production decreased to 40 mL L⁻¹ [12]. When investigating C. reinhardtii strain CC124, it was found that the optimum H₂ production (210.91 \pm 14.29 mL $L^{-1})$ occurred at 70 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ and increasing the light intensity from 70 to 100 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ showed a decrease in hydrogen production [70]. However, Tsygankov et al. (2006) observed that C. reinhardtii used a low light intensity of 25 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ for its growth, whereas the anaerobic conditions necessary for hydrogen production required higher light intensity of 110–120 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ [60]. A. variabilis ATCC 29413 also showed a similar trend when light intensity increased from 70 to 350 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ the rate of hydrogen production declined, and the maximum hydrogen yield was achieved at 70 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ [71]. However, the rate of bioH₂ production by Anabaena sp. PCC 7120 and its mutants (hupL⁻ and hupL⁻/hoxH⁻) increased from 0.9 to 4.3, 8.2 to 20.1, and 3.9–9.4 μ mol mg⁻¹ (Chl) h⁻¹, respectively, when increasing light intensity from 54 to 152 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹. Yodsang et al. (2018) also studied the effect of changing light intensity of (50, 100, 150, and 250 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹) on H₂ production by C. elenkinii, F. muscicola, S. bohneri, N. calcicola and T. distorta. They reported that the rate of hydrogen production increased with all strains except N. calcicola when increasing the light intensity to 250 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹, it increased 9 fold for T. distorta, 14 fold for F. muscicola, 27 fold for C. elenkinii, and 47 fold for S. bohneri, but N. calcicola produced the most hydrogen at a light intensity just under 100 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ [33]. Other authors also found that although A. siamensis TISTR 8012 was able to produce a maximum of 31 μ mol H₂ mg⁻¹ (Chl) h⁻¹ at a light intensity of 200 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ by increasing light intensity from 40 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹, other cyanobacteria like Anabaena sp. PCC 7120, Nostoc punctiforme ATCC 29133, and Synechocystis PCC 6803 could only produce H₂ at a light intensity of 40 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ which was the same as the light intensity during the growth condition [64]. Zhang et al. (2015) investigated different light intensities for cyanobacterium Cyanothece sp. ATCC 51142 and found the highest hydrogen production at 247 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹, while 261 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ was the best light intensity for its growth condition [65]. Other researchers also reported that some cyanobacterial species need different light intensities for their growth (stage 1) and bioH₂ production (stage 2) [34]. However, other works stated that some cyanobacteria produced hydrogen under the same light intensity as their growth condition [68,72,83,95].

iv. Correlation of sulfur-deprivation and light intensity on $\rm H_2$ production by microalgae

Rashid et al. (2013b) claimed that the rate of H_2 production is impacted by sulfur deprivation in the culture which strongly depends on the degree of light intensities used [50]. These authors applied four light intensities of (13, 34, 80, and 156 µE m⁻² s⁻¹) for sulfur-deprived *C. reinhardtii* and found that increasing the light intensity accelerated the rate of sulfur deprivation [60]. Kim et al. (2006) also observed that when the light intensity increased to 200 µE m⁻² s⁻¹ for the same microalgae, the rate of sulfur consumption also increased which led to maximum H₂ production of 225 mL L⁻¹. Studies have also reported the alternation cycles of bioH₂ production by sulfur-deprived cells under light, for instance, the achievement of up to three cycles of hydrogen production [50]. Rashid et al. (2009) also claimed that sulfur-deprived Microcystis aeruginosa was able to produce hydrogen under complete light and dark conditions, whereas the amount of H_2 production was different [96]. However, the cost of sulfur deprivation process is affected by duration of light supply. It is claimed that more hydrogen was obtained under complete dark condition through sulfur deprivation process [97], however, an integrated light and dark condition is economically viable.

v. Correlation of light intensity and oxygen production on $\rm H_2$ production

In cyanobacteria, the nitrogenase enzyme responsible for $bioH_2$ production is sensitive to oxygen because O_2 inhibits nitrogenase to produce hydrogen. Filamentous cyanobacteria such as Anabaena and Nostoc due to their heterocystous cells are able to separate N₂ fixation from O₂ evolution, while some non-heterocystous filamentous and unicellular cyanobacteria separate photosynthesis from N2 fixation by restricting nitrogenase activity under dark conditions [98]. As O₂ evolution highly depends on light intensity and it is an inhibitor factor for H₂ production, evaluation of O₂ concentration is essential. Tsygankov et al. (1998) studied the effect of changing light intensity on O_2 evolution by A. azollae under a mixture of 2% CO₂ and argon atmosphere. They found that at light intensity of 20 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ when dissolved O₂ was 22 μ M, no hydrogen was produced. Although an increase in light intensity increased H₂ production as well as dissolved oxygen, light intensity above 70 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ resulted in decreasing H₂ production and increasing O₂ evolution. They also observed that at constant light intensity of 140 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹, when the gas flow rate increased from 0.5 to 1.0 L min⁻¹ there was a decrease of 28% in dissolved oxygen because of increased dilution, whereas H₂ production rate increased from 0.03 to $0.085 \text{ mL L}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$ [28]. Borodin et al. (2000) applied a 12:12 lightdark cycle at light intensity of 332 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ with continuous aeration to investigate the impact of a light-dark cycle on O2 evolution and H₂ production by A. variabilis PK84. During dark period, the concentration of dissolved oxygen dropped quickly from 380 to 160 μ M because of the cell respiration and O₂ consumption as well as no photosynthesis and O₂ evolution. Also, at the beginning of darkness a rapid decline in hydrogen production was observed. However, through the first 3-6 h of light period and in the presence of a high O₂ concentration, hydrogen production increased [99]. Another study demonstrated that simultaneous O2 and H2 production by Cyanothece sp. ATCC 51142 under continuous illumination is not only a function of light intensity but depends on wavelength. At the lower wavelength (630 nm) and constant light intensity of 220 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ the maximum rate of O₂ production was 1.72 times higher than at 680 nm which led to a lower hydrogen production. At a constant wavelength and light intensities below 50 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ the rate of oxygen production was extremely low, however, increasing the light intensity increased both O₂ and H₂ production. At a higher light intensity of 140 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ O₂ evolution continued to increase whereas the rate of H₂ production remained steady [98].

vi. Effect of photobioreactor thickness and configuration on the light requirement for H_2 production

Factors such as depth, PBR material transparency and cell density in PBRs can all impact light penetration to algal and cyanobacterial species. The construction material providing the highest light transparency is glass (95%), followed by polymethyl methyl acrylate and polycarbonate (92%), polyethylene (80-85%), polypropylene and polyvinyl chloride (80%) (Dasgupta et al., 2010). The configuration and geometry of photobioreactors play an important role to provide an appropriate light requirement for cell growth and hydrogen production [100]. In this regard, transparency and the ratio of surface to volume of PBRs are important [89]. Besides, the distance between light sources and PBRs (installation of light sources inside and/or outside of PBRs) affects the cell growth and bioH₂ production; therefore, LEDs and immersed optical fibers as well as suspended materials scattering light in the culture allow the microorganisms to have better and more convenient access to light sources [53]. It was observed that the addition of silica nanoparticles in a 110 L tubular photobioreactor led to an increase in H₂ production from 1870 mL to 3121.5 ± 178.9 mL, compared to when the PBR was illuminated only at the surface [101]. More research is required for the search of cheap and efficient light scattering techniques in PBR.

A work investigated the effect of PBR diameter on the H₂ production by C. reinhardtii Dangeard C137+. Two bioreactors with the same design but with different diameters of 60 and 95 mm were used. It was observed that when the light intensity increased from 20 to 40 $\mu E\,m^{-2}\,s^{-1}$ in the larger PBR, the rate of H₂ production increased, but in the PBR with a smaller diameter when cells were exposed to the same range of light intensity, the total hydrogen production decreased, which highlighted the importance of the average light intensity inside the bioreactor on H₂ production instead of light intensity on the PBR surface [12]. Ainas et al. (2017) studied the effect of light intensity on bioH₂ production by Spirulina platensis in three different bioreactors (cylindrical, conical, and conical with an excavated base). They found that by increasing light intensity from 0.8 to 3 klx (Kilolux), the volume of hydrogen evolution in the cylindrical and conical PBR fluctuated, but in the conical with an excavated base, it increased to the highest level of 158 mL. They claimed that the latter design provided the largest illuminated surface of 255 cm² which was 2.5 times more than in the cylindrical and conical PBRs, and therefore reduced the dark zones and shade in high-density cell culture [102]. According to Oncel et al. (2015), when 2 sides of a magnetically mixed Roux-type photobioreactor were illuminated with the light intensity of 200 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹, the total H₂ production reached 110 mL L⁻¹ which was not only higher than one-sided illumination under 400 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ but also 22% more than the standard condition with 70 \times 2 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ [103].

5. Temperature requirements

Temperature is another essential factor for algal and cyanobacterial growth. Based on their optimum temperature range for growth, microorganisms are divided into three categories: mesophilic (temperature between 25 and 37 °C), psychrophilic (temperature between 5 and 20 °C), and thermophile (temperature above 50 °C) [8]. The optimal temperature for cell growth and H₂ production depends on the organisms, but the optimum temperature for stage I (photosynthesis) and stage II (hydrogen production) can also be different for each species. Most cyanobacteria can produce H_2 in the range of 30-40 °C [78]. While the optimum temperature for the growth of Nostoc was 22 °C, the highest rate of hydrogen production was achieved at 32 °C [104], and the optimum H₂ production for another subspecies (Nostoc muscorum SPU004) was found to be 40 °C [105]. In contrast, optimum hydrogen production from A. variabilis SPU 003 was observed at 30 °C [78]. Zhang et al. (2015) also investigated the effect of temperature on Cyanothece sp. ATCC 51142 cell yield (at 25, 30, 32, 35, 37, and 40 $^\circ \text{C}$) and H_2 production (at 20, 25, 30, 35, 40, 47, and 55 $^{\circ}$ C). It was observed that the optimal temperature for biomass production was 37 °C which was higher than that for H_2 production (34 °C) [65]. Some researchers found that with an increase in temperature from 37 to 42 °C the maximum rate of H_2 production from Microcystis aeruginosa increased from 34 to 48 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} [53]. A. halophytica also showed the same trend with increasing temperature from 25 to 35 °C [79]. According to Yodsang et al. (2018), the highest H₂ production by C. elenkinii, F. muscicola, S. bohneri, N. calcicola and T. distorta was obtained at 25 °C which was 1.2-1.6 times greater than at 30 °C [33]. However, in another study, higher hydrogen production from Calothrix 336/3 was found at 30 °C [106]. The increase in temperature from 37 to 40 °C also had a positive effect on the rate of hydrogen production from Chlorella sp. which increased from 183 to 238 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} [107]. It was reported that 27 °C was the optimum temperature for H₂ production by C. reinhardtii, but it could also produce H₂ outdoors at 10 °C [103].

6. Effect of algal growth rate on H₂ production

Cyanobacterial and algal growth rate (biomass concentration) and culture age are other factors that can influence hydrogen production. To achieve an efficient hydrogen production, a high culture density of microalgae or cyanobacteria is necessary [108]. Vargas et al. (2018) studied the biomass yield of Anabaena sp. (UTEX 1448) under control and optimal conditions to compare biomass productivity and its effect on H₂ production. They observed that the highest biomass yield and growth rate of 675 \pm 60 g m⁻³ and 1.26 \pm 0.04 d⁻¹, respectively were achieved under an optimum conditions of 32 °C, pH 10.2, 2.1 kg m^{-3} of glucose, 2220 lux, and nitrogen deprivation (10 g m^{-3} sodium nitrate). Then, the biomass harvested from the exponential phase was used for H₂ production. The results demonstrated that hydrogen production under optimal condition was 1.6 times greater than the control condition due to 38% increase in growth rate compared to the control conditions (24 $^{\circ}$ C, pH 9.2, 1.05 kg m⁻³ of glucose, 4440 lux) [29]. The same authors carried out another experiment by Anabaena sp. (UTEX 1448) to find the effect of cyanobacterial culture age on hydrogen production. Biomass collected from exponential and stationary phases was transferred to the second step for

hydrogen production which resulted in a higher hydrogen production rate in the exponential phase. They found that a younger culture in the exponential phase, despite having less biomass, were more metabolically active and could produce 4.1 times more H_2 than an older culture in stationary phase. Also, a higher biomass concentration limited light penetration in the PBR which led to a decrease in photosynthesis and an increase in respiration resulting a lower H₂ production in the stationary phase [109]. Although a dense culture is essential for hydrogen production, culture age must be taken into consideration. Another study also confirmed that the dependency of hydrogen production on the growth rate and culture age. H₂ production from Sulfur-deprived C. reinhardtii showed a linear relationship with cell concentration; when algal cell concentration increased from 5 to 20 μ g Chl mL⁻¹, there was a moderate increase in H_2 production from 0.02 to 0.23 mL per mL culture. However, above 20 μ g Chl mL⁻¹ algal cell concentration, hydrogen production started to decrease. One reason that explained a decline in H₂ production was the production of by-products such as ethanol and organic acids in the stationary phase due to a higher cell density and older culture. Also, shading effects caused by the higher biomass concentration limited light penetration in the PBR that reduced H₂ production [110].

7. Mixed cultures for H₂ production

Hydrogen generation in microalgae is not continuous as the water-splitting activity of PSII and the hydrogenase systems are highly sensitive to oxygen [85]. Many studies showed that the hydrogen yield by co-culturing algae and bacteria was higher than in pure algal culture because bacteria can consume oxygen which otherwise is inhibitory for H₂ production by microalgae. Some bacteria may also consume carbohydrates stored by microalgae to generate H₂ under dark fermentation. A work demonstrated that co-culturing three strains of C. reinhardtii hemHc-lbac, cc124, and cc503 with Bradyrhizobium japonicum led to a 3.5-fold, 17-fold and 4.4-fold increase in hydrogen production, respectively [111]. An improvement in H₂ production by co-cultivating C. reinhardtii with Azotobacter chroococcum was also reported [112]. Another work also reported that when C. reinhardtii 704 was co-cultivated with Escherichia coli, Pseudomonas stutzeri, and Pseudomonas putida, H₂ production increased by 24%, 46%, and 32%, respectively [113]. Yu et al. (2021) also studied a coculture of C. reinhardtii with Mesorhizobium sangaii which demonstrated maximum H_2 production а of 226.98 μ mol mg⁻¹ (Chl) using 3 g L⁻¹ NaNO₂ and it was 5.2 times higher than the pure culture [114]. When Chlorella sp. MACC-360 was co-cultivated with Bacillus amyloliquefaciens and 8 g L⁻¹ starch was used as a carbon source, the hydrogen production was three times higher than that with the pure algae [115]. However, the rate of H₂ production not only depends on algal strains due to their different carbohydrate accumulation but also depends on the choice of bacteria. Pandey et al. (2021) also studied hydrogen production by mixed culture of Spirulina platensis and Bacillus firmus NMBL-03, and they observed that at pH 6.5 and temperature of 32 \pm 2 °C, the yield of H₂ was 1.92 \pm 0.20 mmol (g COD

reduced)⁻¹ [116]. Scenedesmus Obliguus was co-cultured with two bacteria Enterobacter aerogenes ATCC 13048 and Clostridium butyricum DSM 10702, which resulted in different H₂ production rates of 57.6 mL g^{-1} VS from 2.5 g L^{-1} wet biomass and 113.1 mL g^{-1} VS from 50 g L^{-1} dry biomass, respectively [117]. Other research investigated H₂ production from mixed culture when microalgae were cultivated in wastewater. It was reported that S. Obliquus and Consortium C were cultivated in urban wastewater in a 150 L-vertical tubular PBR and then they were used as a substrate for Enterobacter aerogenes in a dark fermentative process; the total H₂ production rates for both strains were found to be 2.96 and 2.91 mL, respectively, however, the specific hydrogen production rates were different (56.8 mL g^{-1} VS and 46.8 mL g^{-1} VS) due to the difference between volatile solid of S. Obliguus and Con. C [118].

8. Bioreactor design

Compared to open systems, photobioreactors (PBRs) or closed systems are able to control temperature, operation conditions, light penetration, contamination, and other factors which results in better microalgal growth and H₂ production [119]. It was reported that in a specific closed system, the rate of algae growth can be tripled [120]. To design an appropriate PBR for hydrogen production, some factors such as light penetration, large surface-to-volume ratio, temperature control, type of transparent and durable material for the construction of PBRs, gas exchange, and agitation methods play an important role as well as the selection of algal species and methods for hydrogen production. Hydrogen loss is also another important factor that must be taken into account for designing and using PBRs. Hydrogen leakage is caused due to the diffusion of gas through PBR materials and connections, as well as through the separation and extraction of hydrogen from the headspace of the PBR [121,122]. Also, the rate of hydrogen diffusion can be influenced by the surface area of the reactor. A larger surface area increases the opportunities for hydrogen molecules to escape from the system; hence, to minimize hydrogen leakage, all materials should have good properties with a low hydrogen permeability [123]. Moreover, all joints should have adequate seals that are made of high quality materials to prevent diffusion. Also, efficient stirring or mixing of the culture within the photobioreactor can aid in maintaining a uniform hydrogen concentration throughout a system, minimizing concentration gradients and reducing the driving force for diffusion. Techniques for proper agitation, such as sparging or mechanical stirring, can enhance gas mixing and subsequently decrease hydrogen losses [122]. According to Burgess et al. (2006), hydrogen collection efficiency (η_{coll}) is affected by reactor materials (hydrogen permeability coefficient), geometry of the reactor including wall thickness, reactor diameter, length of joints, gas and liquid velocities, and gas and liquid volume ratio [121]. Various types of PBRs have been used for hydrogen production, however, only some of them have been successful for large-scale application [1,51,124]. The following sections describe the advantages and shortcomings of the most common PBR designs.

9. Tubular reactors

Tubular reactors have different configurations which are classified into 3 main groups for hydrogen production [6,120]: i) vertical tubular reactors (VTR) such as airlift and bubble column, ii) horizontal tubular, and iii) helical tubular reactor. Availability of light for microorganisms and fluid dynamics in tubular reactors are essential factors of bioreactors design for their effective utilization [125].

i. Vertical tubular reactors (VTR)

The airlift and bubble column photobioreactors are considered VTR and have a few differences in their configurations, but both of them perform similarly. Compared to a simple bubble column, the internal-loop airlift reactor (ALR) shown in Fig. 1a, consists of concentric vertical tubes, namely the riser and downcomer [126]. Agitation and CO₂ supply for algal and cyanobacterial growth and H₂ production are achieved with a sparger at the bottom of the reactor [51]. Airlift bioreactors compared to other bioreactors like bubble columns and stirred tanks, benefit from more uniform mixing, high mass transfer, and less shear stress which not only makes them very popular in biological processes but also they are better for CO₂ uptake [124,127]; for example, CO₂ sequestration by Spirulina sp. in an ALR showed a high CO₂ removal efficiency [128]. The other advantages of these bioreactors consist of low material cost for their construction, high transparency, large surface-to-volume ratio, high biomass

production, and better control of contamination. Some works have reported the usage of these reactors with various capacities and modifications for H₂ production [51,129,130]. In a recent study, the effect of gas velocity on hydrogen production in a 16 L airlift photobioreactor was investigated. It was reported that maximum H₂ production of 371 mL L⁻¹ was achieved by *Anabaena* sp. at the gas velocity, light intensity, and temperature of 0.524 cm s⁻¹, 140 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹, and 30 °C, respectively (Table 5). This velocity was found to be optimal due to providing sufficient gas supplies and less shear stress [131].

Rectangular airlift photobioreactors like other airlift reactors benefit from excellent mixing and high photosynthesis efficiency, however, due to being difficult to scale up and the complexity of their construction, they are not recommended [132]. On the other hand, bubble columns have height limitations because CO₂ provided in the bubbles becomes depleted and dissolved oxygen increases [119]. Huang et al. (2017) stated that the height of ALRs cannot exceed 4 m due to mechanical strength despite providing a high concentration of CO_2 in the riser [133]. The type of agitation also creates challenges due to diluting the H2 stream in the reactor. Gas transfer at the top of the photobioreactors, temperature control, and gas holdup are also major disadvantages of ALRs [51]. Bubble bursting also is another major demerit of ALRs as it can lead to high shear stress for surrounding cells. Moreover, light penetration, capital cost, and cleaning are other issues of this reactor [134].

ii. Horizontal tubular reactors (HTR)



Fig. 1 – (a) airlift PBR, (b) Bubble column reactor.

Table 5 – Hydrogen production	n in tubular photobioreact	tors.			
Photobioreactor type/ Configuration	Microorganism	Growth conditions	Hydrogen production conditions	H ₂ production rate	Reference
Tubular PVC photobioreactor (2 L, 0.4 m high and 7.9 mm internal diameter)	Anabaena variabilis PK84	5% $\rm CO_2$ and 95% air, 3 W m^{-2}	Using partial vacuum (250–300 torr) to reduce $\rm N_2$	20 mL g $^{-1}$ dry wt h $^{-1}$ or 19 mL L $^{-1}$ h $^{-1}$	[142]
Outdoor pilot scale horizontal tubular photobioreactor (50 L, made up of 10 parallel Pyrex glass tubes (length: 2 m, inner diameter: 4.85 cm), stainless steel basin (120 × 240 × 20 cm)	Synechocystis PCC 6803	medium BG11, sunlight, pH 7.4, 28.0 \pm 0.5 $^{\circ}$ C, 97% air and 3% $\rm CO_2$	nitrate-free growth medium (BG11 ₀), under N_2 atmosphere and dark environment, during 25 and 49 h	Total H ₂ 193.4 mL or 0.5 mL L ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	[139]
Pilot scale tubular photobioreactor (110 L, Plexiglas tubes with 64 elements (inner diameter = 27.5 mm; outer diameter = 32 mm; L = 2 m)	Chlamydomonas reinhardtii CC124	TAP medium, 1000 \pm 1000 μE m $^{-2}$ s $^{-1}$, 28 \pm 5 °C, 97% air $+$ 3% CO $_2$	sulfur-free TAP medium, $1000 + 1000 \mu E m^{-2} s^{-1}$ by scattering light silica nanoparticles in the PBR, after 24 h of sulfur deprivation without scattering light silica nanoparticles in the PBR	0.61 mL L $^{-1}$ h $^{-1}$ or 3121.5 \pm 178.9 mL 0.42 mL L $^{-1}$ h $^{-1}$ or 1870 mL	[101]
Tubular photobioreactor (50 L, 10 parallel Pyrex glass tubes (length 2 m, inner diameter 4.85 cm)	Chlamydomonas reinhardtii CC124	TAP medium, pH 7.2 \pm 0.1, 28 \pm 0.5 °C, 250 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$, 97% air $+$ 3% CO_2	sulfur-free TAP-S medium, after about 40 h of sulfur deprivation, under artificial light After 75 h of sulfur deprivation, under solar light (1850 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹) and 100 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ at night	0.17 mL L ^{-1} h ^{-1} or 850 ± 85 mL 930 ± 100 mL	[137]
Internal-loop airlift photobioreactor (16 L)	Anabaena sp.	BG11 ₀ medium, 140 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , 30 °C, pH 8, 12 h:12 h light/dark cycle, batch mode	same as growth condition	Total H_2 371 mL after 7 days	[131]
Bubble column (1.08 L) (0.04 m diameter and 0.86 m height of photobioreactor)	Algerian microalgal strain	TAP medium, 7800 Lux, pH 7, 25 $^\circ \text{C}$	sulfur-free TAP-S medium	-	[143]
Helical tubular (5 L, inner diameter 2 cm, outer diameter 2.4 cm and length = 1150 cm)	Chlamydomonas reinhardtii CC124	TAP medium, cool white fluorescent light, 150 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ 27 \pm 0.5 $^{\circ}C,~pH$ 7.7, 97% air + 3% CO_2	sulfur-free TAP-S medium,	$1.05 \pm 0.05 \text{ mL L}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$	[141]
Helical tubular (4.35 L, made of PVC tubes with a 10 mm inner diameter, surface-to-volume ratio 200 m ⁻¹)	Anabaena azollae	Allen and Arnon medium, 30 °C, pH 7, 110 $-210~\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$, 98% air $+$ 2% CO_2	Allen and Arnon medium, batch mode,	13 mL L ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	[28]
Indoor Helical photobioreactor (1.9 L, made of PVC tubes with 10- mm inner diameter)	Anabaena PCC 7120 Anabaena AMC 414	$BG11_0$ medium, 30 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ 26 °C, bubbling with air same condition	Under Argon atmosphere, $BG11_0$ medium, 456 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$ same condition	Maximum H ₂ 1.4 \pm 0.3 mL h ⁻¹ L ⁻¹ _{PBR} Maximum H ₂ 13.8 \pm 1.5 mL h ⁻¹ L ⁻¹ _{PBR}	[144]
Outdoor Helical photobioreactor (4.35 L)	Anabaena AMC 414	BG11 ₀ medium, sunlight	Under Argon atmosphere, $BG11_0$ medium, Batch culture, after 150 h, maximum 30 $^\circ C$ and average 21.8 $^\circ C$	Maximum H ₂ 14.9 mL $h^{-1} L^{-1}_{PBR}$	[144]
Automated Helical tubular photobioreactor (4.35 L)	Anabaena variabilis PK84	Air $+$ 2% CO $_2$, 12-h light (36 °C) and 12-h dark (14–30 °C), 332 μE m $^{-2}$ s $^{-1}$, during 2.5 months	same as growth condition	230 mL (12-h light) ⁻¹ or 19.2 mL h ⁻¹	[98]



Fig. 2 – Horizontal tubular reactor.



Fig. 3 - Helical tubular reactor.

Horizontal tubular reactors Fig. 2 can be designed differently such as loop shape, α shape, set of parallel tubes, inclined manner, and near horizontal tubular bioreactors (NHTR). Given the flexibility of their design, they have been used in outdoor settings where high sunlight absorption and light conversion efficiency were reported [51,135,136]. In these types of reactors, gas is directly injected in either the tube connections or in the gas exchange unit, and agitation of culture in HTRs is achieved by mechanical pumps. Another advantage is the high surface-to-volume ratio. However, drawbacks include high energy consumption, biomass accumulation in the tubes, low gas exchange, low photosynthetic efficiency due to oxygen buildup which causes photobleaching and the major one is temperature control [6,51,122]. To solve the temperature problem, bioreactors are placed in temperature-regulated greenhouses in a cold climate, and a warm climate, bioreactors are cooled down by spraying water on the tube surface, shading tubes, submerging tubes into a pool of temperature-regulated water, or overlapping tubes [122,130]. A study used a 50 L horizontal photobioreactor inoculated with C. reinhardtii to compare H₂ production under artificial light (light intensity of 250 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹) with solar light (setting PBR outdoor). The results demonstrated a total hydrogen volume of 930 \pm 100 mL under solar light that was 8.6% more than under artificial light [137] (Table 5). Another work investigated the hydrogen production by scattering light silica nanoparticles in a pilot scale HTR of 110 L and light intensity of $1000 + 1000 \ \mu E \ m^{-2} \ s^{-1}$ and found a maximum H₂ of 3121.5 ± 178.9 mL [101]. Vargas et al. (2014) also stimulated H₂ production in a pilot scale HTR with a working volume of 10,000 L by *Scenedesmus* sp. for 17 days, and it was observed that during aerobic conditions (10 days) the rate of H₂ was approximately zero, but after applying anaerobic atmosphere hydrogen was produced [138]. H₂ production from *Synechocystis* PCC 6803 in a 50-liter HTR was compared with the volume of hydrogen produced in a 0.5-liter glass bottle under the same operating conditions. It was reported that the amount of H₂ produced in the bottle was about 2.5 times higher than in the tubular photobioreactor [139].

iii. Helical tubular reactors

Helical tubular reactors (Fig. 3), also known as tubular coiled reactors due to their coiling configuration, are usually made of flexible plastics. To control the temperature, water is either sprayed, or cooling or heating coils are used. The agitation of culture is obtained by a centrifugal pump [51,130]. Although the high surface-to-volume ratio is one of the advantages of helical tubular reactors, they suffer from high energy input, low gas exchange, the accumulation of biomass in tubes, and high shear stress as a result, they have not been used widely for hydrogen production [122,140]. However, Oncel et al. (2014) studied H₂ production by C. reinhardtii in a tubular coiled photobioreactor and compared the rate of hydrogen produced in a flat photobioreactor under the same conditions (the light intensity of 150 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ and temperature of 27 \pm 0.5 °C). They observed that due to less gas removed in the tubular coiled reactor, the rate of bioH₂ produced was 0.25 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} lower than in the flat reactor [141] (Table 5). Another study also investigated the hydrogen production by A. variabilis PK84 in an indoor helical photobioreactor at 332 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$ and $bioH_2$ production was found to be 19.2 mL h^{-1} [98] (Table 5). Examples of hydrogen production in tubular PBRs are summarized in Table 5.

10. Flat plate reactors

Flat plate reactors are classified into 6 groups: vertical, curvedchamber, tilted flat panel (rocking motion), v-shaped, with baffles, and flat panel airlift (Fig. 4) which are all characterized by a high surface-to-volume ratio [145] and minimal thickness of the reactor [1]. Their advantages include a short light path which leads to even light distribution across the photobioreactor, low shear stress, low-cost materials, simplicity of construction, high mixing, and easy scale-up. Also, flat panel reactors have gained attention due to an open gas area which reduces the need to have a degassing unit [51,122]. In flat plate reactors, several techniques can be used for agitation like magnetic stirring, impeller stirring, baffles, rocking motion, or sparging which is the most common method. However, sparging results in the dilution of hydrogen gas and also recirculate gas produced in the system which may increase the risk of leakage [1,122,124]. Magnetic or impeller mixing requires high energy input. Rocking motion provides poor



Fig. 4 – Flat reactors (a) flat plate with baffles, (b) flat plate airlift, (c) v-shaped. (d) curved-chamber, (e) tilted flat panel, (f) vertical.

agitation and is not usually used in H₂ bioreactors. A novel flat panel reactor designed by Skjånes et al. (2016) with a working volume of 1.62 L was investigated for H₂ production from sulfur-deprived C. reinhardtii at temperature and light intensity of 29 °C and 400 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹, respectively [122]. This reactor was used vertically for the cultivation of phototrophic species with air bubbling, but also horizontally when used for hydrogen production, in which mixing and gas exchange were carried out by a rocking motion. In the horizontal mode, the design created a large surface area between cells and head space which benefited H₂ release and collection. Tamburic et al. (2011) also designed a novel flat photobioreactor which consisted of two compartments. The first one was used for agitation of microalgae by recirculating gas, and the second one was applied to control temperature and wavelength. They studied hydrogen production by sulfur-deprived C. reinhardtii in this reactor and found that at the light intensity of $12 \,\mathrm{W}\,\mathrm{m}^{-2}$ (60 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$) and temperature of 25 $^\circ C$, when algal cells were centrifuged, the highest H_2 production was 1.11 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} after 60 h [146]. However, when dosing sulfur and acetate, the hydrogen production reached 1.13 mL $L^{-1}h^{-1}$ after 145 h at the optimal sulfur dosing rate of 0.042 mg SO_4^{-2} L⁻¹ h⁻¹. Using optimized initial sulfate and acetate concentrations of 28 and 2550 mg L^{-1} , respectively, the H₂ production reached 1.52 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} after 170 h. It showed that H_2 production can be enhanced when the concentration of the nutrients is kept at the optimized initial levels [147] (Table 6). Nostoc PCC 7120 ΔhupW, a filamentous cyanobacterium, was also studied in a flat plate photobioreactor with a working volume of 3.85 L under aerobic and anaerobic conditions and light intensity of

44 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹. Under aerobic conditions, the highest H₂ production rate was found to be 1.9 mL h⁻¹, while under an argon atmosphere (anaerobic condition), it was 4.3 mL h⁻¹. However, when a mixture of 80% N₂ and 20% Ar was replaced with pure argon, the maximum hydrogen production rate reached 6.2 mL h⁻¹ because under an Ar atmosphere, nitrogenase enzymes only produced hydrogen and there was no nitrogenfixing activity [148] (Table 6). A number of studies carried out in flat PBRs are listed in Table 6.

11. Membrane photobioreactors

Membrane photobioreactors can have different configurations such as hollow-fiber, flat, and spiral sheets and the membrane is usually made of materials like cellulose acetate and nitrate, polyvinylidene difluoride, polysulfone, polypropylene, etc. [142]. Markov et al. (1993, 1995) designed a hollow-fiber photobioreactor (Fig. 5) composed of hydrophilic cuprammonium rayon hollow fibers and was used for continuous hydrogen production. Cells were immobilized on the outer surface of fibers and the dissolved H₂ diffused from the medium to the inner surface of fibers (lumen space) and then went through a gas column to be collected. The most important advantage of this configuration is the selective separation of cells and dissolved hydrogen [150,151]. However, membrane fouling occurs over time and periodic cleaning with chemicals or replacement is a major drawback. Markov et al. (1993) reported a maximum hydrogen production of 20–200 mL h^{-1} g⁻¹ dry wt by immobilized A. variabilis

Table 6 – Hydrogen production in flat photobioreactors.

Photobioreactor type/Configuration	Microorganism	Growth conditions	Hydrogen production conditions	H ₂ production rate	Reference
Lab scale Flat photobioreactor (1.1 L)	Chlamydomonas reinhardtii L159I —N230Y	TAP medium, 97% air + 3% CO ₂ , 70 μE m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , pH 7.2 \pm 0.1, 28 \pm 0.5 $^{\circ}C$	sulfur-free TAP-S medium, after 75 h of sulfur deprivation	5.77 mL $L^{-1} h^{-1}$	[149]
Flat panel (5.5 L, total height 26.5 cm, width 35.5 cm, and depth of 5.9 cm)	Chlamydomonas reinhardtii CC124	TAP medium, cool white fluorescent light, 150 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , 27 ± 0.5 °C, pH 7.7, 97% air + 3% CO ₂	sulfur-free TAP-S medium	$1.3 \pm 0.05 \text{ mL L}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$	[141]
Lab scale horizontal Flat photobioreactor (1.6 L, the outer size $240 \times 360 \times 40$ mm (width × Height × Depth), the inner size ($180 \times 300 \times 30$ mm)	Chlamydomonas reinhardtii NIVA CHL153	acetate-free TAP-ac medium, 29 °C, 400 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1},$ air $+$ 2.5% CO_2	acetate-free TAP-ac medium, 29 $^\circ\text{C}$, 400 $\mu\text{E}\ m^{-2}\ \text{s}^{-1}$	-	[122]
Novel Flat-plate photobioreactor (3.9 L, dual-compartment reactor body dimensions were $250 \times 240 \times 65$ mm (height \times width \times thickness)	Chlamydomonas reinhardtii	TAP medium, constant cool-white LED irradiation of 8.6 W m $^{-2}$, 20 $^\circ\text{C}$	sulfur-free TAP-S medium, 20 °C, during 60 h	H_2 yield of 105 mL $L^{-1}{}_{\rm culture}$ or maximum H_2 1.11 mL $L^{-1}h^{-1}$	[146]
Flat-plate Photobioreactor (3.9 L)	Chlamydomonas reinhardtii cc124	TAP medium, 12 W m ⁻² , 60 μE m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , 25 $^{\circ}C$	under controlled sulfur and acetate uptake with 28 mg L^{-1} initial sulfate and 2550 mg L^{-1} initial acetate Sulfur dosing, under anaerobic conditions	$\label{eq:maximum} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{Maximum} \ \mbox{H}_2 \ 1.52 \ \mbox{mL} \ \mbox{L}^{-1} \ \mbox{h}^{-1} \ \mbox{or} \\ \mbox{H}_2 \ \mbox{yield of 119.8 mL} \ \mbox{L}^{-1} \\ \mbox{Maximum} \ \mbox{H}_2 \ \mbox{1.13 ml} \ \mbox{L}^{-1} \ \mbox{h}^{-1} \end{array}$	[147]
Flat panel Photobioreactor (3.85 L and, the size of the active surface (polycarbonate plates) 200×600 mm and culture depth 30 mm)	Nostoc PCC 7120 AhupW	Bubbling with air, BG110 medium, pH 8, 30 °C, 44 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$	same as growth conditions, during 74 h	Maximum H_2 1.9 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} ,	[148]
Flat panel Photobioreactor (3.85 L, polycarbonate plates 200×600 mm and culture depth 30 mm)	Nostoc PCC 7120 ΔhupW	Under Argon, BG11 ₀ medium, pH 8, 30 °C, bubbling with air, 44 μE m^{-2} s^{-1}	The same as growth condition, during 104 h	Maximum H_2 4.3 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} ,	[148]
Flat panel Photobioreactor (3.85 L, polycarbonate plates 200 \times 600 mm and culture depth 30 mm)	Nostoc PCC 7120 ΔhupW	With 80% N_2 + 20% Ar, BG11_0 medium, pH 8, 30 $^\circ\text{C},$ bubbling with air, 44 $\mu\text{E}~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$	Under Ar atmosphere, during 128 h	Maximum H_2 6.2 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} ,	[148]



Fig. 5 – (a) schematic of H₂ production by cyanobacteria in a membrane photobioreactor; adapted from Ref. [150]. (b) hollow-fiber membrane; adapted from Ref. [153].

cultivated in Allen-Arnon medium over a 5-month period [150] (Table 7). This reactor was also applied for H₂ production and cleaning up water from ammonium ions simultaneously by the same strain when 0.5 mg L^{-1} ammonium ions were added to the Allen-Arnon medium (Table 7) [80]. The benefit of the application of this reactor was due to the diffusion of ammonium through membranes, while cells penetration did not happen because of their larger diameter, and it was observed that the maximum hydrogen production was 20 mL g^{-1} dry wt h^{-1} as well as 90% ammonium uptake efficiency. However, there is a lack of studies of membrane fouling in these reactors cultivating microalgae and cyanobacteria. The cultivation gases include H₂, O₂, N₂, and CO₂, but the laboratory scale studies have not attempted to concentrate or purify H₂ which remains an obstacle for large-scale applications.

12. Electrochemical sequential batch reactor (ESBR)

This type of reactor is made up of two compartments (Fig. 6) and works similarly to a microbial electrolysis cell (MEC); in both systems, protons (H^+) which are produced at the anode, are transferred to a second chamber through a cation exchange membrane (CEM) and due to a small voltage between the cathode and anode, H_2 is generated [154–156]. However, in ESBR, hydrogen can be produced in both the anodic and cathodic chambers; microalgae in the anode chamber produce biohydrogen, while electrochemical H_2 is formed in the cathode chamber by the addition of small voltage [157]. Hasnaoui et al. (2020) designed an ESBR, a novel PBR, with a double chamber consisting of 6.5 cm diameter and 16 cm height

Table 7 – Hydrogen pro	duction in membra	ane photobioreactors.			
Photobioreactor type/ Configuration	Microorganism	Growth conditions	Hydrogen production conditions	H ₂ production rate F	eference
Sixty hollow-fibers photobioreactor (Hydrophilic cuprammonium rayon, inner diameter 200 µm)	Immobilized Anabaena variabilis ATCC 29413	Allen-Arnon medium + 0.5 mg L ⁻¹ ammonium ions, Light intensity at the top surface 15 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , Light intensity at the bottom surface 5 μ E m ⁻² s ⁻¹ , 24–25 °C	Heating cell growth medium at 55 °C next flushing with Ar, during 3 months	The highest H_2 20 mL h^{-1} g ⁻¹ dry wt or 67 mL h^{-1} L ⁻¹	[80]
laboratory-scale hollow- fiber bioreactor (the total surface area of hollow fibers was 0.8 m ²)	Immobilized Chlamydomonas reinhardtii CC-503 cw92 mt ⁺	CO_2 and air, 15 $\mu E \; m^{-2} \; s^{-1}$	partial vacuum, during six months	$6.0 \text{ mL } \text{h}^{-1} \text{ g}^{-1} \text{ dry wt}$	[152]
Sixty laboratory-scale hollow-fibers bioreactor (Hydrophilic cuprammonium rayon, innerdiameter 200 µm, medium reservoir 750 mL gas phase 400 mL)	Immobilized Anabaena variabilis	Allen-Arnon medium, 25 °C, Light intensity at the top surface 25 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$, Light intensity at the bottom surface 13 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$	Heating cell growth medium at 55 °C next using partial vacuum (270–300 torr) + injection of 320 mL CO ₂ , over 1 year	20 mL h^{-1} g $^{-1}$ dry wt	[151]
laboratory-scale hollow- fiber bioreactor (type AM 100 L (Asahi), Length of the column 110 mm, volume 15 mL)	immobilized Anabaena variabilis	Allen-Arnon medium, 28 °C, 60 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$	Heating cell growth medium at 55 °C next using partial vacuum (500 torr), for 5 months	20–200 mL $h^{-1} g^{-1}$ dry wt	[150]



Fig. 6 – Electrochemical sequential batch reactor (ESBR) for H₂ production by cyanobacteria and microalgae; adapted from Ref. [157].

(including cylindrical Pt electrode with 8 cm length, 0.5 cm diameter, and 12.56 cm² surface area) to study hydrogen production from *Spirulina* sp. under the light intensity of 2.92 W m⁻², 12; 12 light-dark cycles, pH 9.5, temperature 35 °C, and Zarrouk medium. It was reported that H₂ generation at the cathode was 13.37 mol H₂ d⁻¹ m⁻³, whereas *Spirulina* was

able to produce an additional 27.49 mol $H_2 d^{-1} m^{-3}$ in the anodic compartment under the light intensity of 2.92 W m⁻² [157]. This is a 50% increase when *Spirulina* is combined with a MEC which is not negligible. Further research should be carried out on these systems and how to optimize the H_2 from both, microbial and electrochemical routes.

13. Conclusions

Microalgae and cyanobacteria are good candidates for H₂ production and they can also be cultivated with bacteria to improve the rate of H₂ production. Amongst microalgae, it is worth mentioning Tetraspora who achieved 1.18 µmol H₂ $mg^{-1}_{cell} h^{-1}$ and C. reinhardtii who achieved 8.8 mL H₂ L⁻¹ h⁻¹ after 49 h, but these yields were obtained in small laboratory tubes and may not be reproducible on large scale. As far as cyanobacteria are concerned, Nostoc linckia was reported to have produced 105 μ mol H₂ mg⁻¹_{chl} h⁻¹ while A. variabilis was found to have produced up to 46 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} and 7.73 mL g^{-1} $_{drv}$ _{cell} h^{-1} . However, important factors must be carefully considered on a case-by-case basis such as optimal concentration and suitable carbon, nitrogen, presence of dinitrogen gas in headspace and phosphorus sources and microelements, optimum temperature, culture density and age (exponential vs stationary phase of cells) and illumination (light intensity, wavelength and light/dark cycles). More detailed studies of the light intensities required at each stage of sulfur deprivation is also recommended. Strategies such as anaerobic atmosphere, co-cultures, cell immobilization and sulfur deprivation have also been shown to be successful with specific strains. The gas flowrate and composition were also found to significantly affect hydrogen production in specific strains.

The selection of a type of PBR also influences hydrogen production. Tubular, flat, and hollow-fiber PBRs are the most promising reactors for hydrogen production, however, among PBRs flat panel have gained more attention due to the ease of their construction and having a high surface to volume ratio which resulting in a superior distribution of light. Among the most recent studies, it is worth mentioning A. variabilis who achieved 19 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} in a tubular PBR and 67 mL L^{-1} h^{-1} in a membrane PBR using immobilized cells. This is equivalent to 20 mL $g^{-1}_{dry cell}$ h⁻¹. In flat PBR, up to 6.2 mL L⁻¹ h⁻¹ was achieved by Nostoc, but none of the studies demonstrate economic viability of the process nor provided capital and running costs associated with each PBR. Recently, an electrochemical reactor was combined with microbial systems which demonstrated a significant improvement in H₂ production. The inclusion of nanoparticles is an interesting option to improve light scattering in a photobioreactor. However, it is necessary to investigate the cost of any PBRs for hydrogen production in both lab and large scales and compare them to select the most cost-effective system producing a high yield of H₂ per volume of reactor. Also, the hydrodynamic parameters of PBRs must be studied to find the optimal flow rates and mixing to avoid dead zones which have a significant effect on H₂ production. At a large scale, nutrient levels should be carefully monitored to maintain optimum conditions for continuous H₂ production.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Department of Chemical Engineering of the University of Sistan & Baluchestan, Zahedan, Iran, Department of Pharmaceutical Biotechnology, School of Pharmacy, University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran, and School of Agriculture and Environmental Science, University of Southern Queensland, Toowoomba, Australia.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.09.108.

REFERENCES

- [1] Christopher FC, Kumar PS, Vo D-VN, Joshiba GJ. A review on critical assessment of advanced bioreactor options for sustainable hydrogen production. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2021;46:7113–36.
- Singh L, Mahapatra DM. Waste to sustainable energy: MFCs-prospects through prognosis. CRC Press; 2019.
- [3] Pan A, Liu J, Liu Z, Yang Y, Yang X, Zhang M. Application of hydrogen energy and review of current conditions. IOP Conf Ser Earth Environ Sci 2020;526:012124.
- [4] Anwar M, Lou S, Chen L, Li H, Hu Z. Recent advancement and strategy on bio-hydrogen production from photosynthetic microalgae. Bioresour Technol 2019;292:121972.
- [5] Gaffron H. Reduction of carbon dioxide with molecular hydrogen in green algae. Nature 1939;143:204–5.
- [6] Torzillo G, Chini Zittelli G. Tubular photobioreactors. Algal biorefineries. Springer; 2015. p. 187–212.
- [7] Yu J, Takahashi P. Biophotolysis-based hydrogen production by cyanobacteria and green microalgae. 2007.
- [8] Mona S, Kumar SS, Kumar V, Parveen K, Saini N, Deepak B, et al. Green technology for sustainable biohydrogen production (waste to energy): a review. Sci Total Environ 2020;728:138481.
- [9] Jiménez-Llanos J, Ramírez-Carmona M, Rendón-Castrillón L, Ocampo-López C. Sustainable biohydrogen production by Chlorella sp. microalgae: a review. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2020;45:8310–28.
- [10] Sivaramakrishnan R, Shanmugam S, Sekar M, Mathimani T, Incharoensakdi A, Kim S-H, et al. Insights on biological hydrogen production routes and potential microorganisms for high hydrogen yield. Fuel 2021;291:120136.
- [11] Ban S, Lin W, Luo Z, Luo J. Improving hydrogen production of Chlamydomonas reinhardtii by reducing chlorophyll content via atmospheric and room temperature plasma. Bioresour Technol 2019;275:425–9.
- [12] Laurinavichene T, Tolstygina I, Tsygankov A. The effect of light intensity on hydrogen production by sulfur-deprived *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. J Biotechnol 2004;114:143–51.
- [13] Pongpadung P, Liu J, Yokthongwattana K, Techapinyawat S, Juntawong N. Screening for hydrogen-producing strains of green microalgae in phosphorus or sulphur deprived medium under nitrogen limitation. Sci Asia 2015;41:97–107.
- [14] Duangjan K, Nakkhunthod W, Pekkoh J, Pumas C. Comparison of hydrogen production in microalgae under autotrophic and mixotrophic media. Bot Lith 2017;23:169–77.
- [15] Fouchard S, Pruvost J, Degrenne B, Legrand J. Investigation of H₂ production using the green microalga Chlamydomonas

*reinhard*tii in a fully controlled photobioreactor fitted with on-line gas analysis. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2008;33:302–10.

- [16] Laurinavichene TV, Tolstygina IV, Galiulina RR, Ghirardi ML, Seibert M, Tsygankov AA. Dilution methods to deprive Chlamydomonas reinhardtii cultures of sulfur for subsequent hydrogen photoproduction. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2002;27:1245–9.
- [17] Chader S, Hacene H, Agathos SN. Study of hydrogen production by three strains of Chlorella isolated from the soil in the Algerian Sahara. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2009;34:4941–6.
- [18] Ruiz-Marin A, Canedo-López Y, Chávez-Fuentes P. Biohydrogen production by Chlorella vulgaris and Scenedesmus obliquus immobilized cultivated in artificial wastewater under different light quality. Amb Express 2020;10:191.
- [19] Laurinavichene TV, Fedorov AS, Ghirardi ML, Seibert M, Tsygankov AA. Demonstration of sustained hydrogen photoproduction by immobilized, sulfur-deprived Chlamydomonas reinhardtii cells. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2006;31:659–67.
- [20] Laurinavichene TV, Kosourov SN, Ghirardi ML, Seibert M, Tsygankov AA. Prolongation of H₂ photoproduction by immobilized, sulfur-limited Chlamydomonas reinhardtii cultures. J Biotechnol 2008;134:275–7.
- [21] Rashid N, Lee K, Han JI, Gross M. Hydrogen production by immobilized Chlorella vulgaris: optimizing pH, carbon source and light. Bioproc Biosyst Eng 2013;36:867–72.
- [22] Zhang L, He M, Liu J. The enhancement mechanism of hydrogen photoproduction in Chlorella protothecoides under nitrogen limitation and sulfur deprivation. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2014;39:8969–76.
- [23] Liu J-Z, Ge Y-M, Xia S-Y, Sun J-Y, Mu J. Photoautotrophic hydrogen production by Chlorella pyrenoidosa without sulfurdeprivation. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2016;41:8427–32.
- [24] Maswanna T, Lindblad P, Maneeruttanarungroj C. Improved biohydrogen production by immobilized cells of the green alga *Tetraspora* sp. CU2551 incubated under aerobic condition. J Appl Phycol 2020;32:2937–45.
- [25] Maswanna T, Phunpruch S, Lindblad P, Maneeruttanarungroj C. Enhanced hydrogen production by optimization of immobilized cells of the green alga *Tetraspora* sp. CU2551 grown under anaerobic condition. Biomass Bioenergy 2018;111:88–95.
- [26] Singh H, Das D. Biofuels from microalgae: biohydrogen. In: Jacob-Lopes E, Queiroz Zepka L, Queiroz MI, editors. Energy from microalgae. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2018. p. 201–28.
- [27] Berberoğlu H, Jay J, Pilon L. Effect of nutrient media on photobiological hydrogen production by Anabaena variabilis ATCC 29413. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2008;33:1172–84.
- [28] Tsygankov AA, Hall DO, Liu J-g, Rao KK. An automated helical photobioreactor incorporating cyanobacteria for continuous hydrogen production. Biohydrogen: Springer; 1998. p. 431–40.
- [29] Vargas SR, Santos PVd, Zaiat M, Calijuri MdC. Optimization of biomass and hydrogen production by Anabaena sp. (UTEX 1448) in nitrogen-deprived cultures. Biomass Bioenergy 2018;111:70–6.
- [30] Touloupakis E, Rontogiannis G, Silva Benavides AM, Cicchi B, Ghanotakis DF, Torzillo G. Hydrogen production by immobilized Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2016;41:15181–6.
- [31] Das D, Veziroglu TN. Advances in biological hydrogen production processes. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2008;33:6046–57.
- [32] Veeravalli SS, Shanmugam SR, Ray S, Lalman JA, Biswas N. Biohydrogen production from renewable resources. In: Advanced bioprocessing for alternative fuels, biobased chemicals, and bioproducts. Elsevier; 2019. p. 289–312.

- [33] Yodsang P, Raksajit W, Aro E, Mäenpää P, Incharoensakdi A. Factors affecting photobiological hydrogen production in five filamentous cyanobacteria from Thailand. Photosynthetica 2018;56:334–41.
- [34] Masukawa H, Nakamura K, Mochimaru M, Sakurai H. Some heterocystous cyanobacteria. Biohydrogen II 2001;2:63.
- [35] Das D, Veziroğlu TN. Hydrogen production by biological processes: a survey of literature. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2001;26:13–28.
- [36] Howarth DC, Codd GA. The uptake and production of molecular hydrogen by unicellular cyanobacteria. Microbiology 1985;131:1561–9.
- [37] Tinpranee N, Incharoensakdi A, Phunpruch S. Screening cyanobacteria from marine coastal waters of Thailand for biohydrogen production. J Appl Phycol 2018;30:3471–81.
- [38] Serebryakova LT, Tsygankov AA. Two-stage system for hydrogen production by immobilized cyanobacterium Gloeocapsa alpicola CALU 743. Biotechnol Prog 2007;23:1106–10.
- [**39**] Nayak BK, Roy S, Das D. Biohydrogen production from algal biomass (*Anabaena* sp. PCC 7120) cultivated in airlift photobioreactor. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2014;39:7553–60.
- [40] Tsygankov A, Fedorov A, Kosourov S, Rao K. Hydrogen production by cyanobacteria in an automated outdoor photobioreactor under aerobic conditions. Biotechnol Bioeng 2002;80:777–83.
- [41] Shastik E, Romanova A, Laurinavichene T, Petushkova E, Sakurai H, Tsygankov A. Plastic bags as simple photobioreactors for cyanobacterial hydrogen production outdoors in Moscow region. Int. J. Energy Environ. Eng. 2020;11:1–8.
- [42] Liu J, Bukatin VE, Tsygankov AA. Light energy conversion into H₂ by Anabaena variabilis mutant PK84 dense cultures exposed to nitrogen limitations. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2006;31:1591–6.
- [43] Mona S, Kaushik A, Kaushik C. Hydrogen production and metal-dye bioremoval by a Nostoc linckia strain isolated from textile mill oxidation pond. Bioresour Technol 2011;102:3200–5.
- [44] Shah V, Garg N, Madamwar D. Ultrastructure of the cyanobacterium Nostoc muscorum and exploitation of the culture for hydrogen production. Folia Microbiol 2003;48:65–70.
- [45] Prabaharan D, Kumar DA, Uma L, Subramanian G. Dark hydrogen production in nitrogen atmosphere—An approach for sustainability by marine cyanobacterium *Leptolyngbya* valderiana BDU 20041. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2010;35:10725–30.
- [46] Troshina O, Serebryakova L, Sheremetieva M, Lindblad P. Production of H₂ by the unicellular cyanobacterium Gloeocapsa alpicola CALU 743 during fermentation. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2002;27:1283–9.
- [47] Kumazawa S, Mitsui A. Characterization and optimization of hydrogen photoproduction by a saltwater blue-green alga, Oscillatoria sp. Miami BG7. I. Enhancement through limiting the supply of nitrogen nutrients. Int J Hydrogen Energy 1981;6:339–48.
- [48] Burrows EH, Chaplen FW, Ely RL. Optimization of media nutrient composition for increased photofermentative hydrogen production by Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2008;33:6092–9.
- [49] Grobbelaar JU. Algal nutrition mineral nutrition. Handbook of microalgal culture. 2003. p. 95–115.
- [50] Rashid N, Rehman MSU, Memon S, Rahman ZU, Lee K, Han J-I. Current status, barriers and developments in biohydrogen production by microalgae. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2013;22:571–9.

- [51] Dasgupta CN, Gilbert JJ, Lindblad P, Heidorn T, Borgvang SA, Skjanes K, et al. Recent trends on the development of photobiological processes and photobioreactors for the improvement of hydrogen production. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2010;35:10218–38.
- [52] Rashid N, Lee K, Mahmood Q. Bio-hydrogen production by Chlorella vulgaris under diverse photoperiods. Bioresour Technol 2011;102:2101–4.
- [53] Rashid N, Choi W, Lee K. Optimization of two-staged biohydrogen production by immobilized Microcystis aeruginosa. Biomass Bioenergy 2012;36:241–9.
- [54] Chen P-C, Fan S-H, Chiang C-L, Lee C-M. Effect of growth conditions on the hydrogen production with cyanobacterium Anabaena sp. strain CH3. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2008;33:1460–4.
- [55] Degrenne B, Pruvost J, Christophe G, Cornet JF, Cogne G, Legrand J. Investigation of the combined effects of acetate and photobioreactor illuminated fraction in the induction of anoxia for hydrogen production by Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2010;35:10741–9.
- [56] Kosourov S, Patrusheva E, Ghirardi ML, Seibert M, Tsygankov A. A comparison of hydrogen photoproduction by sulfur-deprived Chlamydomonas reinhardtii under different growth conditions. J Biotechnol 2007;128:776–87.
- [57] Hwang J-H, Lee M, Kang EH, Lee WH. Renewable algal photo H₂ production without S control using acetate enriched fermenter effluents. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2021;46:1740–51.
- [58] Skjånes K, Lindblad P, Muller J. BioCO₂-A multidisciplinary, biological approach using solar energy to capture CO₂ while producing H₂ and high value products. Biomol Eng 2007;24:405–13.
- [59] Marques AE, Barbosa AT, Jotta J, Coelho MC, Tamagnini P, Gouveia L. Biohydrogen production by Anabaena sp. PCC 7120 wild-type and mutants under different conditions: light, nickel, propane, carbon dioxide and nitrogen. Biomass Bioenergy 2011;35:4426–34.
- [60] Tsygankov AA, Kosourov SN, Tolstygina IV, Ghirardi ML, Seibert M. Hydrogen production by sulfur-deprived Chlamydomonas reinhardtii under photoautotrophic conditions. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2006;31:1574–84.
- [61] Kosourov S, Tsygankov A, Seibert M, Ghirardi ML. Sustained hydrogen photoproduction by Chlamydomonas reinhardtii: effects of culture parameters. Biotechnol Bioeng 2002;78:731–40.
- [62] Baebprasert W, Lindblad P, Incharoensakdi A. Response of H_2 production and Hox-hydrogenase activity to external factors in the unicellular cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. strain PCC 6803. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2010;35:6611–6.
- [63] Heyer H, Stal L, Krumbein WE. Simultaneous heterolactic and acetate fermentation in the marine cyanobacterium Oscillatoria limosa incubated anaerobically in the dark. Arch Microbiol 1989;151:558–64.
- [64] Khetkorn W, Lindblad P, Incharoensakdi A. Enhanced biohydrogen production by the N₂-fixing cyanobacterium Anabaena siamensis strain TISTR 8012. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2010;35:12767–76.
- [65] Zhang D, Dechatiwongse P, del Rio-Chanona EA, Maitland GC, Hellgardt K, Vassiliadis VS. Modelling of light and temperature influences on cyanobacterial growth and biohydrogen production. Algal Res 2015;9:263–74.
- [66] Ohta S, Miyamoto K, Miura Y. Hydrogen evolution as a consumption mode of reducing equivalents in green algal fermentation. Plant Physiol 1987;83:1022–6.
- [67] Lambert GR, Smith GD. Hydrogen formation by marine blue—green algae. FEBS Lett 1977;83:159–62.
- [68] Serebryakova LT, Sheremetieva ME, Lindblad P. H₂-uptake and evolution in the unicellular cyanobacterium

Chroococcidiopsis thermalis CALU 758. Plant Physiol Biochem 2000;38:525–30.

- [69] Masukawa H, Mochimaru M, Sakurai H. Hydrogenases and photobiological hydrogen production utilizing nitrogenase system in cyanobacteria. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2002;27:1471–4.
- [70] Oncel S, Sukan FV. Effect of light intensity and the light: dark cycles on the long term hydrogen production of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* by batch cultures. Biomass Bioenergy 2011;35:1066–74.
- [71] Salleh SF, Kamaruddin A, Uzir MH, Mohamed AR, Shamsuddin AH. Light irradiance and spectral distribution effects on cyanobacterial hydrogen production. In: IOP conference series: earth environ. Sci. IOP Publishing; 2016. p. 012046.
- [72] Antal TK, Lindblad P. Production of H₂ by sulphur-deprived cells of the unicellular cyanobacteria *Gloeocapsa alpicola* and *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803 during dark incubation with methane or at various extracellular pH. J Appl Microbiol 2005;98:114–20.
- [73] Happe T, Schütz K, Böhme H. SallehTranscriptional and mutational analysis of the uptake hydrogenase of the filamentous cyanobacterium Anabaena variabilis ATCC 29413. J Bacteriol 2000;182:1624–31.
- [74] Fedorov A, Tsygankov A, Rao K, Hall D. Anabaena variabilis Production of hydrogen by an mutant in a photobioreactor under aerobic outdoor conditions. Biohydrogen II: Elsevier; 2001. p. 223–8.
- [75] Alcaine AA. Biodiesel from microalgae: universitat politècnica de Catalunya. Escola Universitària d'Enginyeria; 2010.
- [76] Jin H-F, Lim B-R, Lee K. Influence of nitrate feeding on carbon dioxide fixation by microalgae. J Environ Sci Health, Part A A 2006;41:2813–24.
- [77] Chen M, Tang H, Ma H, Holland TC, Ng KS, Salley SO. Effect of nutrients on growth and lipid accumulation in the green algae Dunaliella tertiolecta. Bioresour Technol 2011;102:1649–55.
- [78] Dutta D, De D, Chaudhuri S, Bhattacharya SK. Hydrogen production by cyanobacteria. Microb Cell Factories 2005;4:36.
- [79] Taikhao S, Junyapoon S, Incharoensakdi A, Phunpruch S. Factors affecting biohydrogen production by unicellular halotolerant cyanobacterium Aphanothece halophytica. J Appl Phycol 2013;25:575–85.
- [80] Markov SA, Protasov ES, Bybin VA, Eivazova ER, Stom DI. Using immobilized cyanobacteria and culture medium contaminated with ammonium for H₂ production in a hollow-fiber photobioreactor. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2015;40:4752–7.
- [81] Yeager CM, Milliken CE, Bagwell CE, Staples L, Berseth PA, Sessions HT. Evaluation of experimental conditions that influence hydrogen production among heterocystous Cyanobacteria. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2011;36:7487–99.
- [82] Masukawa H, Sakurai H, Hausinger RP, Inoue K. Sustained photobiological hydrogen production in the presence of N₂ by nitrogenase mutants of the heterocyst-forming cyanobacterium Anabaena. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2014;39:19444–51.
- [83] Sveshnikov D, Sveshnikova N, Rao K, Hall D. Hydrogen metabolism of mutant forms of Anabaena variabilis in continuous cultures and under nutritional stress. FEMS Microbiol Lett 1997;147:297–301.
- [84] Melis A, Zhang L, Forestier M, Ghirardi ML, Seibert M. Sustained photobiological hydrogen gas production upon reversible inactivation of oxygen evolution in the green alga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. Plant Physiol 2000;122:127–36.

- [85] Nagarajan D, Lee D-J, Kondo A, Chang J-S. Recent insights into biohydrogen production by microalgae – from biophotolysis to dark fermentation. Bioresour Technol 2017;227:373–87.
- [86] Kosourov S, Makarova V, Fedorov AS, Tsygankov A, Seibert M, Ghirardi ML. The effect of sulfur re-addition on H₂ photoproduction by sulfur-deprived green algae. Photosynth Res 2005;85:295–305.
- [87] Lin C-Y, Lay C. Effects of carbonate and phosphate concentrations on hydrogen production using anaerobic sewage sludge microflora. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2004;29:275–81.
- [88] Wang B, Li Y, Wu N, Lan CQ. CO₂ bio-mitigation using microalgae. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2008;79:707–18.
- [89] Tebbani S, Lopes F, Filali R, Dumur D, Pareau D. Bioprocess modeling. CO₂ biofixation by microalgae. 2014. p. 33–63.
- [90] Chandrasekhar K, Lee Y-J, Lee D-W. Biohydrogen production: strategies to improve process efficiency through microbial routes. Int J Mol Sci 2015;16:8266–93.
- [91] Asada Y, Miyake J. Photobiological hydrogen production. J Biosci Bioeng 1999;88:1–6.
- [92] Uyar B, Eroglu I, Yücel M, Gündüz U, Türker L. Effect of light intensity, wavelength and illumination protocol on hydrogen production in photobioreactors. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2007;32:4670–7.
- [93] Asada Y, Kawamura S. Aerobic hydrogen accumulation by a nitrogen-fixing cyanobacterium, Anabaena sp. Appl Environ Microbiol 1986;51:1063–6.
- [94] Tamagnini P, Axelsson R, Lindberg P, Oxelfelt F, Wünschiers Rb, Lindblad P. Hydrogenases and hydrogen metabolism of cyanobacteria. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 2002;66:1–20.
- [95] Moezelaar R, Bijvank SM, Stal LJ. Fermentation and sulfur reduction in the mat-building cyanobacterium Microcoleus chthonoplastes. Appl Environ Microbiol 1996;62:1752–8.
- [96] Rashid N, Song W, Park J, Jin H-F, Lee K. Characteristics of hydrogen production by immobilized cyanobacterium Microcystis aeruginosa through cycles of photosynthesis and anaerobic incubation. J Ind Eng Chem 2009;15:498–503.
- [97] Guan Y, Deng M, Yu X, Zhang W. Two-stage photobiological production of hydrogen by marine green alga Platymonas subcordiformis. Biochem Eng J 2004;19:69–73.
- [98] Melnicki MR, Pinchuk GE, Hill EA, Kucek LA, Fredrickson JK, Konopka A, et al. Sustained H₂ production driven by photosynthetic water splitting in a unicellular cyanobacterium. mBio 2012;3. https://doi.org/10.1128/mbio. 00197-12.
- [99] Borodin VB, Tsygankov AA, Rao KK, Hall DO. Hydrogen production by Anabaena variabilis PK84 under simulated outdoor conditions. Biotechnol Bioeng 2000;69:478–85.
- [100] Morita M, Watanabe Y, Saiki H. Investigation of photobioreactor design for enhancing the photosynthetic productivity of microalgae. Biotechnol Bioeng 2000;69:693–8.
- [101] Giannelli L, Torzillo G. Hydrogen production with the microalga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii grown in a compact tubular photobioreactor immersed in a scattering light nanoparticle suspension. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2012;37:16951–61.
- [102] Ainas M, Hasnaoui S, Bouarab R, Abdi N, Drouiche N, Mameri N. Hydrogen production with the cyanobacterium Spirulina platensis. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2017;42:4902–7.
- [103] Oncel SS, Kose A, Faraloni C, Imamoglu E, Elibol M, Torzillo G, et al. Biohydrogen production from model microalgae Chlamydomonas reinhardtii: a simulation of environmental conditions for outdoor experiments. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2015;40:7502–10.

- [104] Ernst A, Kerfin W, Spiller H, Böger P. External factors influencing light-induced hydrogen evolution by the bluegreen alga, Nostoc muscorum. Z Naturforsch C Biosci 1979;34:820–5.
- [105] Madamwar D, Garg N, Shah V. Cyanobacterial hydrogen production. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 2000;16:757–67.
- [106] Allahverdiyeva Y, Leino H, Saari L, Fewer DP, Shunmugam S, Sivonen K, et al. Screening for biohydrogen production by cyanobacteria isolated from the Baltic Sea and Finnish lakes. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2010;35:1117–27.
- [107] Song W, Rashid N, Choi W, Lee K. Biohydrogen production by immobilized Chlorella sp. using cycles of oxygenic photosynthesis and anaerobiosis. Bioresour Technol 2011;102:8676–81.
- [108] Phlips E, Mitsui A. Role of light intensity and temperature in the regulation of hydrogen photoproduction by the marine cyanobacterium Oscillatoria sp. strain Miami BG7. Appl Environ Microbiol 1983;45:1212–20.
- [109] Vargas SR, Zaiat M, Calijuri MdC. Influence of culture age, ammonium and organic carbon in hydrogen production and nutrient removal by Anabaena sp. in nitrogen-limited cultures. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2020;45:30222–31.
- [110] Hahn JJ, Ghirardi ML, Jacoby WA. Effect of process variables on photosynthetic algal hydrogen production. Biotechnol Prog 2004;20:989–91.
- [111] Xu L, Li D, Wang Q, Wu S. Improved hydrogen production and biomass through the co-cultivation of Chlamydomonas reinhardtii and Bradyrhizobium japonicum. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2016;41:9276–83.
- [112] Xu L, Cheng X, Wu S, Wang Q. Co-cultivation of Chlamydomonas reinhardtii with Azotobacter chroococcum improved H₂ production. Biotechnol Lett 2017;39:731–8.
- [113] Fakhimi N, Tavakoli O. Improving hydrogen production using co-cultivation of bacteria with Chlamydomonas reinhardtii microalga. Mater. Sci. Energy Technol. 2019;2:1–7.
- [114] Yu Q, He J, Zhao Q, Wang X, Zhi Y, Li X, et al. Regulation of nitrogen source for enhanced photobiological H₂ production by co-culture of Chlamydomonas reinhardtii and Mesorhizobium sangaii. Algal Res 2021;58:102422.
- [115] Hupp B, Pap B, Farkas A, Maróti G. Development of a microalgae-based continuous starch-to-hydrogen conversion approach. Fermentation 2022;8:294.
- [116] Pandey A, Sinha P, Pandey A. Hydrogen production by sequential dark and photofermentation using wet biomass hydrolysate of Spirulina platensis: response surface methodological approach. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2021;46:7137–46.
- [117] Batista AP, Moura P, Marques PASS, Ortigueira J, Alves L, Gouveia L. Scenedesmus obliquus as feedstock for biohydrogen production by Enterobacter aerogenes and Clostridium butyricum. Fuel 2014;117:537–43.
- [118] Batista AP, Ambrosano L, Graça S, Sousa C, Marques PA, Ribeiro B, et al. Combining urban wastewater treatment with biohydrogen production—an integrated microalgaebased approach. Bioresour Technol 2015;184:230–5.
- [119] Johnson TJ, Katuwal S, Anderson GA, Gu L, Zhou R, Gibbons WR. Photobioreactor cultivation strategies for microalgae and cyanobacteria. Biotechnol Prog 2018;34:811–27.
- [120] Carvalho AP, Meireles LA, Malcata FX. Microalgal reactors: a review of enclosed system designs and performances. Biotechnol Prog 2006;22:1490–506.
- [121] Burgess G, Fernandez-Velasco J, Lovegrove K. Materials, geometry, and net energy ratio of tubular photobioreactors for microalgal hydrogen production. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2007;32:1225–34.

- [122] Skjånes K, Andersen U, Heidorn T, Borgvang SA. Design and construction of a photobioreactor for hydrogen production, including status in the field. J Appl Phycol 2016;28:2205–23.
- [123] Kjeldsen P. Evaluation of gas diffusion through plastic materials used in experimental and sampling equipment. Water Res 1993;27:121–31.
- [124] Sirohi R, Pandey AK, Ranganathan P, Singh S, Udayan A, Awasthi MK, et al. Design and applications of photobioreactors-A review. Bioresour Technol 2022:126858.
- [125] Öncel SŞ, Köse A, Öncel DŞ. 11 Façade integrated photobioreactors for building energy efficiency. In: Pacheco-Torgal F, Rasmussen E, Granqvist C-G, Ivanov V, Kaklauskas A, Makonin S, editors. Start-up creation. Woodhead Publishing; 2016. p. 237–99.
- [126] Zittelli GC, Biondi N, Rodolfi L, Tredici MR. Photobioreactors for mass production of microalgae. Handbook of microalgal culture: applied phycology and biotechnology 2013:225–66.
- [127] Kumar K, Dasgupta CN, Nayak B, Lindblad P, Das D. Development of suitable photobioreactors for CO₂ sequestration addressing global warming using green algae and cyanobacteria. Bioresour Technol 2011;102:4945–53.
- [128] Zarei Z, Malekshahi P, Trzcinski AP, Morowvat MH. Investigation of hydrodynamic parameters in an airlift photobioreactor on CO₂ biofixation by *spirulina* sp. Sustainability 2022;14:7503.
- [129] Tredici M, Rodolfi L. Reactor for industrial culture of photosynthetic micro-organisms. Patent WO 2004;74423:A2.
- [130] Singh R, Sharma S. Development of suitable photobioreactor for algae production—A review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2012;16:2347—53.
- [131] Zarei Z, Malekshahi P, Trzcinski AP, Morowvat MH. Effect of hydrodynamic parameters on hydrogen production by Anabaena sp. in an internal-loop airlift photobioreactor. Braz J Chem Eng 2022:1–10.
- [132] Naidoo N, Pauck W, Carsky M. Effects of sparger design on the gas holdup and mass transfer in a pilot scale external loop airlift reactor. S Afr J Chem Eng 2021;37:127–34.
- [133] Huang Q, Jiang F, Wang L, Yang C. Design of photobioreactors for mass cultivation of photosynthetic organisms. Engineering 2017;3:318–29.
- [134] Chalmers JJ. Cells and bubbles in sparged bioreactors. Cell Culture Engineering 1994;IV:311–20.
- [135] Slegers P, Van Beveren P, Wijffels R, Van Straten G, Van Boxtel A. Scenario analysis of large scale algae production in tubular photobioreactors. Appl Energy 2013;105:395–406.
- [136] Ranganathan P, Pandey AK, Sirohi R, Hoang AT, Kim SH. Recent advances in computational fluid dynamics (CFD) modelling of photobioreactors: design and applications. Bioresour Technol 2022:126920.
- [137] Scoma A, Giannelli L, Faraloni C, Torzillo G. Outdoor H₂ production in a 50-L tubular photobioreactor by means of a sulfur-deprived culture of the microalga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. J Biotechnol 2012;157:620–7.
- [138] Vargas JVC, Mariano AB, Corrêa DO, Ordonez JC. The microalgae derived hydrogen process in compact photobioreactors. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2014;39:9588–98.
- [139] Touloupakis E, Benavides AMS, Cicchi B, Torzillo G. Growth and hydrogen production of outdoor cultures of Synechocystis PCC 6803. Algal Res 2016;18:78–85.
- [140] García AS, Antequera DA, Arango JP, Gómez-Pérez C, Espinosa J. Helical tubular photobioreactor design using computational fluid dynamics. CT F Ciencia, Tecnol, Futuro 2020;10:123–30.

- [141] Oncel S, Kose A. Comparison of tubular and panel type photobioreactors for biohydrogen production utilizing *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* considering mixing time and light intensity. Bioresour Technol 2014;151:265–70.
- [142] Markov SA. Bioreactors for hydrogen production. In: Zaborsky OR, Benemann JR, Matsunaga T, Miyake J, San Pietro A, editors. BioHydrogen. Boston, MA: Springer US; 1998. p. 383–90.
- [143] Kaidi F, Rihani R, Ounnar A, Benhabyles L, Naceur MW. Photobioreactor design for hydrogen production. Procedia Eng 2012;33:492–8.
- [144] Lindblad P, Christensson K, Lindberg P, Fedorov A, Pinto F, Tsygankov A. Photoproduction of H₂ by wildtype Anabaena PCC 7120 and a hydrogen uptake deficient mutant: from laboratory experiments to outdoor culture. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2002;27:1271–81.
- [145] Assunção J, Malcata FX. Enclosed "non-conventional" photobioreactors for microalga production: a review. Algal Res 2020;52:102107.
- [146] Tamburic B, Zemichael FW, Crudge P, Maitland GC, Hellgardt K. Design of a novel flat-plate photobioreactor system for green algal hydrogen production. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2011;36:6578–91.
- [147] Tamburic B, Dechatiwongse P, Zemichael FW, Maitland GC, Hellgardt K. Process and reactor design for biophotolytic hydrogen production. Phys Chem Chem Phys 2013;15:10783–94.
- [148] Nyberg M, Heidorn T, Lindblad P. Hydrogen production by the engineered cyanobacterial strain Nostoc PCC 7120 ΔhupW examined in a flat panel photobioreactor system. J Biotechnol 2015;215:35–43.
- [149] Torzillo G, Scoma A, Faraloni C, Ena A, Johanningmeier U. Increased hydrogen photoproduction by means of a sulfurdeprived Chlamydomonas reinhardtii D1 protein mutant. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2009;34:4529–36.
- [150] Markov SA, Lichtl R, Rao KK, Hall DO. A hollow fibre photobioreactor for continuous production of hydrogen by immobilized cyanobacteria under partial vacuum. Int J Hydrogen Energy 1993;18:901–6.
- [151] Markov SA, Bazin MJ, Hall DO. Hydrogen photoproduction and carbon dioxide uptake by immobilized Anabaena variabilis in a hollow-fiber photobioreactor. Enzym Microb Technol 1995;17:306–10.
- [152] Markov SA. Hydrogen production in bioreactors: current trends. Energy Proc 2012;29:394–400.
- [153] Zhang N, Pan Z, Zhang Z, Zhang W, Zhang L, Baena-Moreno FM, et al. CO₂ capture from coalbed methane using membranes: a review. Environ Chem Lett 2020;18:79–96.
- [154] Kadier A, Simayi Y, Abdeshahian P, Azman NF, Chandrasekhar K, Kalil MS. A comprehensive review of microbial electrolysis cells (MEC) reactor designs and configurations for sustainable hydrogen gas production. Alex Eng J 2016;55:427–43.
- [155] Cheng S, Logan BE. High hydrogen production rate of microbial electrolysis cell (MEC) with reduced electrode spacing. Bioresour Technol 2011;102:3571–4.
- [156] Zikmund E, Kim K-Y, Logan BE. Hydrogen production rates with closely-spaced felt anodes and cathodes compared to brush anodes in two-chamber microbial electrolysis cells. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2018;43:9599–606.
- [157] Hasnaoui S, Pauss A, Abdi N, Grib H, Mameri N. Enhancement of bio-hydrogen generation by spirulina via an electrochemical photo-bioreactor (EPBR). Int J Hydrogen Energy 2020;45:6231–42.